B K&t TiZRRERAS]
) == TIANDE CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

’ (REESESEMmMT > ARAT) (BHHRI : 609)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Stock Code: 609)

Sodium |
Cyanidena

F 25 ANNUAL REPORT 2022



542 CONTENTS i

10

12

20

36

55

60

61

62

64

NI

Corporate Information Y
MBRERTFUBEHRE

Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial Summary .
ITREHE

Chairman’s Statement
EEREREBABZEAER
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EREN R AN

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEWmE

Directors’ Report

PEER/RRSE

Corporate Governance Report

J8 3 1% BLAD =

Independent Auditor’s Report

e sk

Consolidated Income Statement

et mElER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e BRI R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FAERERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meaEmgyx

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Bt R #h & Bt o

Notes to the Financial Statements




NEEF

Corporate Information

=
HITES
BIGRE (£E)
FFINE

BREZESRL (L)

BYFHPITES
BEERE
RMBRE
BIRA ks

EEg%E9g
BEREES
RRE KL (EF)
BEELL
BRSNSk

FHEES
BB Sk (2/E)
) Xt
BHE R4
215 5%

REZ8Y
255k (ER)
RRERE L
BIR KL

ZERBREES

BB L (EF)
BEERE
FEE L
DNEME
2yt

8% BED

ARV ERREAMELAAERAF

HE B AR

MR R T 25 B B ELAD

RECTEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zijiang
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (General manager)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang
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Mr. Liu Yang
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Mr. Liu Chenguang
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lau Wai Chun

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants and
Reqistered Public Interest Equity Auditor
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Results
(expressed in RMB'000)
Revenue
Gross profit
(Loss) / Profit attributable
to owners of the Company
Basic (loss) / earnings per share
(in RMB)
Earnings before interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation
) ("EBITDA")

Financial Positions
(expressed in RMB'000)

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets per share (in RMB)

Financial Ratios
Current ratio

Quick ratio

Gearing ratio

Average capital employed

RAREE AR (B518),/ 85+
FAERR RS ETRMD MEFES
2 o FREA (B1E),/ BHRIE
ANATNMEFHAROEETE - M
REE-_ZT—)\F —T—N&F-
—E-TFE T —FR=F
——Ft+-A=t—HItAEFE
ZARENRETIIRNEE 2R A
851,954,0008% + 851,954,000/%
851,954,0008% * 851,954,000%
858,525,200 °

FRBEE + RBDEE
FRBEE+ RDEE

s - NEFERARRDET
P in 21 B

RBEE-RDEE
(RBEE-FE) - RnDEE
FAE(RRTER &R
TR RBEMRITERR Z
fERARRE) — R
REFFLE - BIA - T8 R#EAT
BA/(BEE-BRDAE)

(BEAEHE + HREAD
B%),2

—ERCEER

Wi —E-AE
Notes 2018
1,179,300

65,154

(61,058)

1 (0.072)
34,125

2 1,691,333
3 398,933
4 1.517
5 1.6
6 1.2
7 3.2%
8 10.2%

Notes:

1 Basic (loss)/
earnings per
share

2 Total assets

3 Total liabilities

4 Net assets per
share
5 Current ratio

6 Quick ratio

7 Gearing ratio

8 Return on capital
employed
("ROCE")

Average capital
employed

—T-NE —Z2CTF —T-—F - ek -3
2019 2020 2021 2022

1,381,138 1,359,393 2,584,731 3,520,608

185,387 181,134 777,870 1,478,435
21,507 94,821 379,647 870,924
0.025 0.111 0.446 1.014
146,233 238,540 668,070 1,416,933

1,909,369 1,918,903 2,316,731 2,960,227

605,533 536,011 561,921 456,065
1.530 1.623 2.060 2.880
1.1 1.4 2.0 3.8
0.9 1.2 1.6 3.4
5.1% 6.6% TEANA TEAN/A
6.8% 14.0% 27.3% 46.6%

(Loss) / Profit attributable to owners of the Company
+ Weighted average of issued shares of the Company
for the year. The calculation of basic (loss) / earnings
per share is based on the weighted average number
of 851,954,000, 851,954,000, 851,954,000,
851,954,000 and 858,525,200 shares of the
Company for the five years ended 31 December
2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 respectively.

Non-current assets + Current assets
Non-current liabilities + Current liabilities

Total equity = Number of issued shares of the
Company at the respective years ended

Current assets + Current liabilities

(Current assets — Inventories) + Current liabilities

Net debts (Total borrowings net of bank and cash
balances, time deposits and pledged bank deposits) +

Total equity

EBITDA / (Total assets — Total current liabilities)

(Opening ROCE + Closing ROCE) / 2
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1,478,435

777,870
181,134
185,387
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(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY  (RMB'000)

870,924

379,647
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EBITDA (RMB’000)
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The novel coronavirus disease (the “COVID-19” or “Pandemic”) has
lasted for three years and a strict zero-COVID-19 policy was lifted
in PRC in December 2022 instantly. In addition, the outbreak of the
Russia-Ukraine War since February 2022 resulted in the geopolitical
tensions escalating amongst various countries. These unexpected events
induced the uncertainties lingering in the PRC economy, plus showing
signs of upheaval ahead. Coming into the post-Pandemic era, various
nations have been prompting for economic recovery and fighting
against Pandemic-related surge in inflation. As a result of an inflationary
environment, it poised favourable market conditions for the products of
the Group. Furthermore, owing to the Group’s extra efforts in enhancing
its competitiveness through persistently and diligently improving its
internal operations and optimising its product chain, the revenue of the
Group hit a high record and remarkable financial results were delivered
during the year.
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Dear shareholders,
On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of Tiande Chemical
Holdings Limited (the “Company” and
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2kt
R

Mr. Liu Yang
Chairman

Annual Report 2022

Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited



8

FERE
Chairman’s Statement

REBEFE  AEEERHTEMBRENRE -
TR R EREREFEARMNRRAE - R
BHPERBRIN AEETEL2RETHE
A REEZ2EERAOXBER L RER
T AR BAERE VR o 224

R
I ¥ B PR i A BOR B TN R - R ERRER
BHRKENTE AR TEEHTRED
WHRFEEHERAE SRR/ TEERD
RENIMTHAZE - XEBRRRETE - &A%
BARKOEHBRATHITE  WEHEREEAK
B -ESCHREYHRNEESERFIREER
W ERERNEBRZERANR S © Wi &
FENBHNARENETERY  BERIFME
BEREBIIBREBAR  EERERARERXR
ROXBIRE  FEINADBERBEETORR
EmEMRRAD SR TRNAELE - RE
ARBERUMBERHER EFEFNAAY
ARBNREXRGASDAREDL  LH/EN<S
ARBERA-RERANERARE N RFAERREE
Ak obtsE

BRE

ERHENELEEE EEe2anEEs_%
T+ A+ BHUMBEEREARREE
T (TR 17 1) IR REARE B & B ®60.200T (=
T —F : B¥0.205T) o FFREALARRQ R FEER
RAFAE ((ZZ-_=ZFREAFAE]) LR
HofE - BORARHIRETEHER - -_=F \A
T HKZARNZARERN - ERAFRE MK
RkE 2 R HIRR B BB 12 (Z2E = —F ¢
/) DEFENRELAEASRERK32T (=
T——4 : F¥0.200T) °

REECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

During the year under review, the Group has achieved stellar performance
in the financial results whilst vigorously deployed new business
development in the meantime to cater for the future needs. Apart
from incessantly devoting in product development, the Group has also
increased investment in the aspect of safety and environmental protection
so as to bolster the business foundation for holistic development and be
well prepared for moving to next business milestone.

PROSPECTS

Facing to the impacts of the constant escalations in international
geopolitical risks, high interest rate environment and residual effects of
the Pandemic, all of which will put pressure on the PRC economy and
trigger the acceleration of structural adjustments of the PRC economy.
This will undoubtedly add uncertainties to the business environment of
the PRC. Such macro-environment factors will have impacts on and pose
significant challenges to the future business performance of the Group.
The Board remains highly vigilant on the anticipated adverse economy
and will continue to improve the operating cost-efficiency of the Group.
Moreover, the Board will leverage on existing business advantages to
explore new business development opportunities and expand business
scale continuously, with the aims to enhance the future business growth
yet simultaneously diversify concentration risks of the Group’s business, so
that the negative impacts arising from market volatilities may be alleviated
in the future. In light of the solid business foundation established by the
Group, the Board and | remain highly confident in the long-term business
development of the Group and will endeavour to shape the Group to
become an enterprise with high capability to withstand risks as well as
achieve sustainable development.

DIVIDENDS

In view of the outstanding business performance, the Board proposed
a final dividend of HK$0.20 (2021: HK$0.20) per issued share of the
Company (the “Shares”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.
Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “2023 AGM"), the proposed final
dividend is tentatively to be distributed to the Shareholders on or about
10 August 2023. Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.12 (2021:
Nil) per Share paid to the Shareholders during the year, the total dividends
for the year under review is HK$0.32 (2021: HK$0.20) per Share.
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Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

The Group achieved remarkable accomplishments and was awarded
the honour of “Sina Finance Golden Qilin Overseas Investment Summit
Forum — Best Small-Medium Cap Hong Kong and U.S. Listed Company”
during the year. | would like to express my sincerest gratitude to all
who contributed to the Group including the shareholders, customers
and business partners for their unwavering trust and support. | am
also grateful to the Board and all the staff for their industrious work,
commitment and contribution to the continuous success of the Group.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2023

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited

@



10

EENREHREEAEBZBAER

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Yang, aged 39, is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”).
Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall strategic development, business
planning and policy setting of the Group. He graduated from China
University of Petroleum in the PRC with a degree of Bachelor of Electronic
and Information Engineering and Simon Fraser University, Canada with
a degree of Bachelor of Finance in 2006 and 2010 respectively. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked as a channel manager of EIFIF5E
EEHAPRE/AE (Xingzheng Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.) for
the period from November 2011 to March 2014. He joined the Group in
April 2014.

WANG Zijiang, aged 58, is an executive Director and one of the
co-founders of the Group. He graduated from Nanjing Chemical
College (now known as Nanjing University of Technology) in the PRC
in 1988, majoring in chemical engineering. He worked for three years
since 1991 in Weifang New Technology Research Centre. After that,
Mr. Wang co-founded Weifang Tianhong Equity Investment Company
Limited (“Weifang Tianhong”) in 1996. Mr. Wang has over 25 years of
experience in the chemical industry.

Chen Xiaohua, aged 45, is an executive Director and a general manager
of the Company. He is also a director of Weifang Common Chem Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since November 2018,
and was a director of Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from January 2018 to January
2020. Mr. Chen graduated from Changwei Teachers College (E 4t
EHREEFR) (now known as Weifang University) in the PRC in July 1999,
majoring in chemistry education. He joined the Group in March 2000. He
has over 20 years of experience in the chemical industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

GAO Baoyu, aged 61, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 4 October 2006. He is the professor of
environmental engineering and the tutor of the postgraduate students
studying for doctorate degrees of Shandong University in the PRC since
September 1999 and November 2001 respectively. He was also the dean
of the school of environmental science and engineering of Shandong
University in the PRC from January 2001 to November 2012. Mr. Gao
was awarded by Shandong Provincial People’s Government as one of
the Middle-aged and Young Expert with Outstanding Contributions in
Shandong Province in the PRC in 2007. He graduated from Tsinghua
University in the PRC in 1999 with a doctorate degree in engineering
majoring in environment engineering.

LEUNG Kam Wan, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 1 March 2007. Mr. Leung graduated from
Hong Kong Baptist University and Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and a
master degree in corporate governance in 1992 and 2007 respectively.
Mr. Leung is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate of The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) and an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). Mr. Leung has been a practicing certified public
accountant for over 10 years. He has extensive experience in financing,
accounting and auditing. Mr. Leung currently is the managing director of
Leung Kam Wan CPA Limited.

LIU Chenguang, aged 60, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 4 October 2006. Mr. Liu obtained from East
China Petroleum Institute in the PRC (now known as China University
of Petroleum) a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in petroleum
refining in 1982 and a master’s degree in applied chemistry in 1985.
He also obtained his doctorate degree in applied chemistry from China
University of Petroleum (Beijing) in the PRC in 1991. Mr. Liu has been
appointed as an associate professor of China University of Petroleum in
the PRC (”China University of Petroleum”) in 1992, was then promoted
as a professor in 1994 and subsequently took on the post as the tutor
of postgraduate students studying for doctorate degrees in 1998 and
has ever since become the professor and tutor at China University of
Petroleum. Mr. Liu was the dean of the college of chemical engineering
of China University of Petroleum from May 2004 to April 2013. Currently,
he is a professor of the college of chemical engineering of China
University of Petroleum. Mr. Liu is a member of China Petroleum Society,
China Chemistry Society, China Chemical Society, American Chemistry
Society and director of Shandong Chemistry and Chemical Society.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

COVID-19 has ravaged the world for three years, such public health
emergency of international concerns and related affairs have affected the
global economy negatively. In order to counteract the negative impacts
caused by the Pandemic, many countries implemented unconventional
fiscal and monetary policies. In conjunction with the outbreak of the
Russia-Ukraine War since February 2022, worldwide surge in inflation
was resulted. In view of the majority of the products of the Group are
being used for the production of daily consumables, the inflationary
environment prompted favourable market conditions for the products
of the Group. Besides, the notable contribution to the revenue of the
Group during the year under review was generated by several relatively
new products launched by the Group in previous years. As a result, the
revenue of the Group for the year under review increased significantly as
compared with that of last year.

As a consequence of the escalation in global inflation, the costs of
basic raw materials used by the Group were stayed at a relatively high
level. Benefitting from the Group’s persistent efforts in enhancing its
production efficiency and streamlining its production activities, as well as
the realisation of a more efficient resources allocation and strengthened
circular economy production system through the consolidation of
production plants, the Group managed to lower its production costs
effectively. Therefore, both of the gross profit and gross profit margin of
the Group recorded remarkable increases during the year under review.
In addition, the Group continuously optimised and streamlined business
processes to improve operational efficiency, thereby containing operating
expenses at a reasonable level. Consequently, the Group recorded a very
satisfactory growth in the profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year under review.

During the year under review, the Group relentlessly improved its
operational efficiency for sustainable business development ahead.
On the one hand, the Group proactively increased the investment in
research and development in order to strengthen the horizontal products
portfolio to achieve better products quality. Concurrently, the Group
has developed certain new products in the pipeline with good market
potential in downstream industries by leveraging on its prevailing business
advantages and market trends. All these measures can further augment
products layout and incessantly optimise the circular economy production
system of the Group. On the other hand, the Group also strived to
improve its production activities in relation to safety and environmental
protection by increasing investment in the enhancement of production
technologies and processes, which could result in continuously elevating
the governance standards of environmental protection and simultaneously
raising production efficiency. The aforesaid measures have been
implemented to establish a solid business foundation of the Group and
facilitate the enhancement of flexibilities to map out development plan of
the Group in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Outlook

Currently, the central banks of Europe and the United States of America
continue to hike interest rates and adopt tightened monetary policies
to curb inflation. Economic activities will be decelerated under a high
interest rate environment. In addition, the escalating geopolitical risks
are intensifying the uncertainties on the economy of the PRC and the
unpredictability of business environment. These negative factors of
the macro-environment have started to exert influence on the overall
economic development in the PRC which would inevitably lead a
mounting downward pressure on the PRC manufacturing industries.
It is anticipated that the arduous business environment will impair the
business performance of the Group in the next financial year. To cope
with the aforementioned challenges, the Group will sustain its ongoing
efforts on improvements in internal operational efficiency, optimisation
of products chain, magnification of the effective allocation of resources,
enhancement of production processes and adoption of flexible marketing
strategies etc. By taking these concerted actions, it should enable the
Group to uplift business resilience and reinforce its capability to resist
economic headwind even in a challenging environment. Based on the
current business foundation and development direction of the Group, the
Board remains optimistic about the medium and long-term development
prospects of the Group. Moving forward, the Group will adhere to
its sustainable business approach to adjust its business strategies in
accordance with the different pace of development stages, and rigorously
explore more business opportunities with good potential, by which the
Group can create new path for its long-term business growth as well as
spare no efforts in increasing value for the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year under review, the economic environment was still in
favour of fine chemical industry in the PRC which provided good market
conditions for the products of the Group resulting in a notable increase
in revenue of the Group. The revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 increased remarkably to approximately RMB3,520.6
million or growth of 36.2% as compared with approximately RMB2,584.7
million in 2021.

Gross profit

The Group further optimised its overall productivity and efficiency by
streamlining its production activities, thereby containing its costs of
production effectively and improving its gross profit and gross profit
margin substantially. During the year under review, the gross profit of
the Group reached to approximately RMB1,478.4 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB700.5 million or growth of 90.1% as
compared with approximately RMB777.9 million in 2021. The gross profit
margin also rose to 42.0%, increased by 11.9 percentage points when
compared with 30.1% in 2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Operating income and expenses

The other income was mainly comprised (i) net amount of exchange
gain; (i) various grants received from the PRC governmental authorities
for being incentives to encourage the Group’s business development; (iii)
bank interest income; (iv) compensation received on settlement after the
PRC’s court decision; (v) rental income; and (vi) other income during the
year under review.

The selling expenses decreased by approximately RMB7.3 million to
approximately RMB77.8 million (2021: RMB85.1 million) during the year
under review. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decline of
transportation cost related to overseas sales as the negative impact from
the Pandemic induced global logistics constraint no longer existed. The
selling expenses to the Group's revenue was 2.2% (2021: 3.3%).

During the year under review, the administrative and other operating
expenses decreased by approximately RMB25.0 million from
approximately RMB157.2 million in 2021 to approximately RMB132.2
million in 2022. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the absence of
the loss arising from written-off property, plant and equipment during the
year; (i) no net exchange loss occurred during the year; and (iii) decrease
in provision for doubtful debts. Administrative and other operating
expenses to the Group’s revenue was 3.8% (2021: 6.1%).

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented bank borrowings interest and interest
for advances from a substantial Shareholder, which decreased by
approximately RMB3.7 million from approximately RMB6.5 million in
2021 to approximately RMB2.8 million in 2022. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in the weighted average amounts of bank
borrowings and advances from a substantial Shareholder.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company
As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group achieved a remarkable

increase in profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company to
approximately RMB870.9 million (2021: RMB379.7 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Trade and bills receivable

As at 31 December 2022, the trade receivables (net of loss allowance)
increased to approximately RMB422.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB85.6 million or 25.4% as compared with
approximately RMB337.1 million recorded as at 31 December 2021.
About 91.6% of trade receivables related to the sales incurred in the last
quarter of 2022 and most of them were not yet due and 8.1% of trade
receivables were related to the sales incurred in the third quarter of 2022.
Only 0.3% of trade receivables were aging over 180 days. Up to the date
of this report, about 76.0% of trade receivables have been settled. Thus,
the Directors considered that the current bad debt allowance is adequate
for the trade receivables as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the bills receivable was approximately
RMB369.5 million, increased by approximately RMB193.9 million or
110.4% as compared with the balance of approximately RMB175.6
million as at 31 December 2021. Since all bills receivable are bank
acceptance bills, which are non-interest bearing and most of them have
a maximum maturity period of six months, the payments of which were
guaranteed by the licensed banks in the PRC. As a result, the default risk
is considered relatively low. Accordingly, the Directors considered that
allowance for doubtful debt is not required.

Prepayments and other receivables

The receivables of compensation arising from the resumption of the land
(the “Land Resumption”) which originally occupied by the production site
of Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Parasia”) was recognised
as other receivables under current assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position. During the year under review, Weifang Parasia received
a total amount of approximately RMB10.0 million (2021: RMB125.9
million) in respect of the compensation. As at 31 December 2022, the
remaining balance of the compensation receivable was approximately
RMB39.9 million (2021: RMB49.9 million). The Directors expected the
outstanding balance will be settled within one year since the negotiation
of a settlement plan with the relevant local authority is reaching the
final stage. For further details, please refer to note 19(ii) to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Short-term bank borrowings and the principal
amounts of advances from a substantial
Shareholder

All bank borrowings are at floating interest rates ranging from 3.85%
to 5.22% per annum and are denominated in Renminbi. As at 31
December 2022, there is no outstanding bank borrowing amount,
representing a net decrease of RMB60.0 million or 100.0% as compared
with the balance of RMB60.0 million as at 31 December 2021. The
principal amounts of advances from a substantial Shareholder were at
a fixed annual interest rate of 2.0% and denominated in Renminbi. The
principal amounts of advances from a substantial Shareholder decreased
to RMB40.0 million (2021: RMB90.0 million) as at 31 December 2022.
The settlement in full of short-term bank borrowings and the reduction
of principal amounts of advances from a substantial Shareholder were
mainly due to the improvement of operating cash flow generated by
strong business performance during the year under review.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group's primary source of funding included the net cash inflow
generated from operating activities of approximately RMB854.8 million
(2021: RMB274.3 million); newly raised bank borrowings of RMB10.0
million (2021: RMB60.0 million); net proceeds from issue of Shares due
to exercise of share options of approximately RMB18.1 million (2021:
Nil); no incurrence of the principal amount of advances from a substantial
Shareholder (2021: RMB1.7 million); compensation received for the Land
Resumption of approximately RMB10.0 million (2021: RMB125.9 million);
proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMBO.3 million (2021: RMB2.4 million); and bank interest received of
approximately RMB2.7 million (2021: RMBO0.7 million). With the financial
resources obtained from the Group’s operations, the Group had spent
approximately RMB262.1 million (2021: RMB213.5 million) on the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment; acquisition of right-of-use
assets of approximately RMB22.9 million (2021: Nil); repayments of bank
borrowings of RMB70.0 million (2021: RMB110.0 million); interest paid
of approximately RMB1.9 million (2021: RMB5.4 million), repayment
of advances from a substantial Shareholder of RMB50.0 million (2021:
RMB13.7 million); and dividends paid of approximately RMB243.3
million (2021: RMB21.4 million) during the year under review. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had bank and cash balances, time deposits
and pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB492.1 million (2021:
RMB226.3 million), of which 56.0% was held in Renminbi, 40.2% was
held in United States dollars and the remaining balances were held in
Hong Kong dollars and euros.



B RE ()
/)u, fi%&gji&fﬂ/ﬁ (fi)

RZZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H AEERHE
BEFELH ARK1,159,200,0007T (Z T = —4F:
A R #530,900,0007T) ' BN EE EA38E (=
T—F:20fF) - LK% EREEEREHEHOAR
#45,700,0007T (=& = —4% : AR#¥155,200,000
JC) ° Kﬁlmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmhﬂgﬂ £ B
BURBENPFERR - Bt RZFE=—F+=
A=+—H ERFREEH AR RIREEE
TH B AR A B R AREE) 49 A R%446,500,0007T
(ZZE=——%F: AR¥71,200,0007C) °

AL B F5 B AR T 5 5 R B PR A A E AR A RE AR R
RO HEEBRR  RREROIRNFREREZOH
B - BBKEEHELRENRERA - H
MEF EARZASERERITROEHAREDA
MIRTTEERE  AEBABERBZUBER -
RUABMBRINAEREEESAT - AEERK
FEMBVNERBRSRL YR @EFREH
B BRRESKRADR -

BEEIRMA

R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—H AEBEETE
EHEEETE (CE-—F  RITEBROARE
3,000 T B R IEA BUABT i S HURAS - AR —REF
MERMEHRFE) °

—Q 1$
I =

RZZF-_—F+-_A=+—8 AEEIEEM
BRIABB( T _—F &) -

AR

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H AEBEIHE
R R ERTEN AR114,200,0007T (= F
—— 4 : AR#86,300,0007T) ' JviH KW EE W
¥ BELREARERTR - RS 2HEEX
R #) 2 B AREGERT L AR 401,800,0007T (=
T~ —4F: AR#214,300,0007T) * JuH K Uk EE
ff%% BEREEARERTR -

BEER W RO
Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB1,159.2 million (2021: RMB530.9 million), the current
ratio of the Group was approximately 3.8 times (2021: 2.0 times). The
total amount of outstanding borrowings of the Group was approximately
RMB45.7 million (2021: RMB155.2 million). The substantial improvement
in the profitability of the Group during the year under review built a
stronger financial position for the Group. Hence, the Group attained a
net cash balance (total cash and cash equivalent net of total borrowings)
of approximately RMB446.5 million (2021: RMB71.2 million) as at 31
December 2022.

The Group is continuously upgrading or replacing its outdated production
facilities to secure its sustainable business development in the future and
devotes to uphold a solid financial position simultaneously. Benefiting
from a steady positive cash inflow from operating activities, coupled with
the available cash resources on hand and undrawn banking facilities
from banks, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its
present commitments and working capital requirements. The Group will
monitor its cash outflow closely, cautiously and be dedicated to maintain
a sound financial position as well as improving the equity return to the
Shareholders.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2022, there was no pledge on the Group’s assets
(2021: a bank balance of approximately RMB3,000 was frozen as a
security for a litigation case under the PRC court order).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2021: Nil).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had commitments which has been
contracted but not yet been provided for in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB114.2 million (2021: RMB86.3 million), for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment as well as construction in progress,
while the capital commitment for authorised but not contracted for in
aggregate amount of approximately RMB401.8 million (2021: RMB214.3
million) related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as
well as construction in progress.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Funding and treasury policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach on its funding and treasury
policies, which aims to maintain an optimal financial position and
minimise the Group’s financial risks. The Group regularly reviews its
funding requirements to secure adequate financial resources to support
its business operations and future investments as and when needed.

Cash flow forecast is properly prepared and reviewed regularly by the
senior management of the Group (the “Senior Management”), which
facilitates the Group to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash
equivalents, and sufficient available banking facilities to finance the daily
operations and capital expenditure requirements in the foreseeable future
pursuant to the funding and treasury policies of the Group.

During the year under review, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for any hedging purposes as the Group’s businesses are
principally conducted in Renminbi and most of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. Accordingly, the Group
is not subject to significant currency risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the borrowing cost and interest rate risk, any raising of
loans to meet the expected funding demand must be assessed carefully
and approved by the executive Directors. The Group will consider new
financing needs while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group's operations are mainly in the PRC and its assets, liabilities,
revenues and transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi, United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations
was caused by the impact of Renminbi exchange rate movements during
the year under review. Most of the Group’s income and expenses are
denominated in Renminbi except for export sales which were, in majority,
denominated in United States dollars. However, the Group has not
experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity
as a result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year
under review. Besides, the Group will consider adoption of cost efficient
hedging methods in future foreign currency transactions as and when
appropriate.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 1,558 (2021: 1,403) full-time
employees.

For the year under review, the total staff costs including the Directors’
remuneration increased to approximately RMB185.6 million (2021:
RMB167.1 million).

The Group has established its human resources policies and scheme with
a view to deploying the incentives and rewards of the remuneration
system which includes a wide range of training and personal development
programs to its employees. The remuneration package of the Group
offered to its employees was in line with their duties and the prevailing
market terms. Staff benefits, including medical coverage and provident
funds, have also been provided to the employees of the Group.

The employees would receive discretionary bonuses and monetary
rewards based on their ratings in annual performance appraisals of
the Group. The Group also offered rewards or other incentives to
its employees in order to motivate their personal growth and career
development, such as ongoing opportunities for training to enhance their
technical and products knowledge as well as their knowledge of industry
quality standards. All new employees of the Group are required to attend
an induction course and there are also various types of training courses
available to all employees of the Group.

The Group has also adopted share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. No share option of the Company
has been granted during the year under review.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal business
of the Group includes research and development, manufacture and sale
of fine chemical products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 60 of this annual
report.

During the year under review, the Directors have declared an interim
dividend of HK$0.12 (2021: Nil) per Share totalling approximately
RMB95.4 million (2021: Nil), which was paid to the Shareholders on 27
October 2022.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.20
(2021: HK$0.20) per Share. The final dividend is tentatively to be
distributed by the Company on or about Thursday, 10 August 2023 to
the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 28 July 2023, which is subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the 2023 AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The objective of the Company’s dividend policy is to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The Company may
declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and taking into account
the following factors:

- the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

- the balances of retained profit and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- the level of debts ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial
covenants of the Group;

- any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed to
the Group;

- the expected working capital requirements and future business
plans of the Group;

- general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
is set out in the sections of Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial
Summary, Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 9 and pages 12 to 19 respectively of
this annual report.

The Group recognises that its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to its sustainable development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality products and services to its customers and enhancing co-
operation with its business partners.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to maintaining a clean, energy saving and
harmonious environmental conservation policy. Through the compliance
of 1SO14000 environmental management system, the Group improves
its environmental management ability so as to achieve environmental
optimisation, pollution minimisation, energy saving and reduction of
pollutant emissions.

The Group has established an environmental management team to
oversee all environmental issues group—wide. The Group has also
implemented well-defined job specifications and a sound environmental
performance evaluation program so as to improve the environmental
performance of the Group from time to time. The Group has complied
with the environmental requirements laid down by the national and
local authorities in the PRC and obtained 1SO14001 environmental
management system certification since 2004. The Group has consistently
improved environmental management through the plan—-do—check-
act quality management principle. The Group uses its best endeavour
to promote environmental friendly practices to both suppliers and
customers. The Group pursues clean production processes, promotes
circular economy, maintains sound environmental rules and regulations
and actively promotes the 4Rs (reduce, recycle, reuse and replace)
throughout all the Group’s business activities to realise emission reduction
targets.

The Group maintains its products at the highest standards and adopts
advanced technology and production processes. The Group is taking steps
to make sure all production line construction projects are strictly adopting
the “Three Simultaneous System”, to ensure the concepts of prevention
of pollution facilities are incorporated into the project design, construction
and production at the same time. Environmental protection is in place
throughout the process from product design to finished product. Clean
production audit is in place and it is performed on a regular basis. The
Group actively implements the waste treatment and recycling, controls
pollutant emission, and provides a safety and healthy workplace to its
employees with an aim of improving their quality of working life and
environment.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Environmental policies and performance (Continued)

The Group proactively promotes all employees to participate in
environmental conservation. The Group strives to raise environmental
awareness and competence among its employees through environmental
protection rules and regulations and environmental work skills. The
Group, based on the evaluation of current laws and regulations as well as
the significant environmental factors, formulates an “Objectives, Targets,
Management Scheme” (the “Management Scheme”), and improves
the “corrective and preventive measures” of environmental aspects
from time to time. The Group developed a comprehensive “Significant
Environmental Factors Contingency Plan”. The implementation of the
Management Scheme and the corrective and preventive measures can
effectively control the significant environmental factors. In accordance
with “Significant Environmental Factors Contingency Plan”, the Group
performs drilling regularly to improve environmental emergency response
capacity of all employees so as to achieve the objectives of reducing
pollution, energy conservation, and environmental protection as well as
conscientiously fulfilling environmental protection, corporate and social
responsibility.

Principal risks and uncertainties

In addition to the matters reported in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report, the following are the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group is facing disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong).

Strategic risks

1. Unfavourable conditions in the global economy, economic
fluctuations in customers’ industries and volatility and cyclicality of
the global fine chemicals markets (especially the PRC market) may
adversely affect the results of the Group.

The Group maintains a balanced portfolio of products to serve
a broad spectrum of customers. The Board is closely monitoring
market conditions and corrective actions are taken imminently as
and when necessary.

2. The ability of the Group to compete is highly dependent on its
abilities to develop technological innovations and to introduce new
products. Failure to do so could have an adverse effect on the
Group.

The Group continues to invest in improving existing products,
developing new products and new production technologies through
research and development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Strategic risks (Continued)

Sk

The failure of the Group to procure/produce key raw materials may
lead to production interruptions. Besides, sharp volatility in the
prices of such raw materials and energy prices may adversely affect
the profitability of the Group and its working capital position.

Sourcing strategies of the Group are in place to access multiple
supply channels for key raw materials and the Group works closely
with key suppliers to maintain a reliable and high—quality supply
of goods/services. The Group strives to identify suitable alternative
raw materials where possible. The Group actively monitors its profit
margins and uses best endeavour to recover increase in input costs
from customers.

Operational risks

1.

28

Compliance with extensive environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations could lead to incurring material expenditures
or changes in the operations of the Group. The manufacturing,
storage and transportation of chemicals is inherently dangerous and
any incidents relating to the hazards which the Group faces may
adversely affect its financial condition, results of operations and
reputation.

Detailed safety, health and environmental processes are
documented in operating manuals which are updated and
circulated to employees on a regular basis. Sound maintenance
programs are in place in order to ensure that the facilities meet
the local statutory requirements. The Group established a safety,
health and environmental department dedicated to safety, health
and environmental issues and ensure the programs for continuous
improvement across all major safety, health and environmental
areas are in place group—wide.

The ongoing success of the Group depends on attracting and
retaining high quality senior management and staff who can
effectively manage the Group’s operations.

The Group offers competitive compensation packages with annual
performance bonuses and long—term incentive arrangements (e.g.
share options) for key employees. Appropriate notice periods and
non—compete clauses are used to mitigate short—term risk arising
from the departure of key employees. The Group has established a
succession plan for key positions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Financial risks

1.

The Group’s statement of financial position and cash flow or credit
market conditions and credit ratings may restrict the ability of the
Group to obtain new credit facilities. In addition, upward interest
rate fluctuations and increases in bank lending margins may
increase the Group'’s costs of borrowing.

The management of the Group closely monitors cash flow and
working capital performance on a timely basis to ensure it has
a sound liquidity position and sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations. The management
of the Group regularly reviews the relevant loan covenants (if
applicable) for bank borrowings as well as the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise. Details of the liquidity risk and interest rate risk are
set out in note 37(iv) and (ii) to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Customers’ credit risk will cause a financial loss if the counterparties
fail to discharge their obligations.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow—up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group
only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of
the customers’ financial background and credit history. In addition,
the management of the Group reviews the assessment of expected
credit losses at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate losses allowance are made for expected irrecoverable
amounts. Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note
37(iii) to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

2023 AGM will be held on Friday, 16 June 2023. For further information
regarding the 2023 AGM, Shareholders should refer to the circular of
the Company dated 27 April 2023, the notice of the 2023 AGM and the
form of proxy accompanying thereto.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 13 June 2023 to Friday, 16 June
2023, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the right to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates should be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor of Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 June 2023.

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who qualify for the
proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
26 July 2023 to Friday, 28 July 2023, both days inclusive. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates should be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor
of Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 25 July 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year under review in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 28 to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five years summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group on pages 66 and 67 of this annual report and note 29 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company can be used for paying distributions or dividends
to Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles
of association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders amounted in total to
approximately RMB339.0 million (2021: RMB533.6 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, the Group spent approximately RMB262.1
million (2021: RMB213.5 million) on property, plant and equipment
to expand its production capabilities. Details of the movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group's investment properties were revalued at the year—end
date. The decrease in fair values of investment properties arose from
revaluation amounting to approximately RMBO.7 million (2021: RMB1.3
million) has been charged to the consolidated income statement. Details
of movements in the investment properties of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other
donations totalling approximately RMBO0.4 million (2021: RMB60,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for 25.9% (2021: 22.4%) of the Group's total
revenue, whilst the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
was 15.1% (2021: 13.7%).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for 42.2% (2021: 38.6%) of the Group's total
purchases, whilst the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier was 20.3% (2021: 14.9%).

At no time during the year under review did any Director, any associate
of a Director or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued Shares) has any interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yang
Mr. Wang Zijiang
Mr. Chen Xiaohua

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles of Association”), Mr. Wang Zijiang and Mr. Liu Chenguang
shall retire from office by rotation at the 2023 AGM, each of them, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re—election as Directors at the 2023
AGM. In addition, the Company proposed the appointment of Ms. Shan
Honghong as an additional Director at the 2023 AGM in accordance with
article 86(2) of the Articles of Association. For details, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 27 April 2023.

All non—executive Directors were appointed for an initial term of not
more than three years and the terms will be renewed automatically for
successive term of three years until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for a term of three years and thereafter shall continue from
year to year until terminated by giving three months’ notice in writing by
either party to the other.

No person proposed for election or re—election at the 2023 AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Connected Transactions”
set out in this report and note 35 to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 on “Related Party Transactions”, no contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this annual report, no Director is considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
and their associates in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

FisRAEE,/ REBERETE
RiERE HEBREHE FERTROER
Number of  Number of share BABALL(%)
Shares held / options held Approximate %
interest in the according to share 513 in the total

Chief Executive associated corporation Shares option scheme  Capacity issued Shares
(f5E2)
(Note 2)
Elloy e FEEEERAR [FE]) (F1) 232,560,000 - SEAEZEDS 26.75%
Mr. Liu Yang Cheerhill Group Limited (“Cheerhill") Interest of controlled
(Note 1) corporation
- 2,500,000 2,500,000 E#REAA 0.58%
Beneficiary owner
IFIkRE - 159,120,000 - EnBAA 18.30%
Mr. Wang Zijiang Beneficiary owner
= 140,000 - BEcER 0.02%
Interest of spouse
BREELE - 2,532,000 2,000,000 EZEAA 0.52%

Mr. Chen Xiaohua

REECITEZERARIE —B-_FFHK

Beneficiary owner
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Notes:

1. The 232,560,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Yang, who
is an executive Director.

2. These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company
upon exercise of the options granted under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 20 May 2016 (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”). Further details are set out in the paragraphs headed “Share
Option Schemes” of this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executive
nor their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as at 31 December 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, the register of substantial Shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following Shareholders had notified the Company of its relevant
interests in the issued Shares:

Long position of substantial Shareholders in the
Shares and/or underlying Shares

FERGEHE/
ROERRERBHE HE#1T
Number of Shares IR 10 #E B
held / interest in the B E 2 (%)
BRER HHE Shares and aggregated 51 Approximate % in
Name of Shareholders interest Capacity the total issued Shares
& (PFE) 232,560,000  REEEZ 26.75%
Cheerhill (Note) Interest of controlled
corporation
BEELt 70,380,000 Ezm#EEA 8.10%
Ms. Sun Jianhua Beneficiary owner
Har &+ 70,380,000 EmEAA 8.10%

Ms. Zeng Hong
B3t

232,560,000/% /% (5 Th AR5 H - H2PEBITI/RAN
BREBESBEABRGLE  BARNITES -

BREXFBEBREN R —_F+_A=+—
B AR A E A A A T A A D S AR R A
DREETAREES R EGRIANG AR
ZHERBIRR  REAARRBREESF LA %
PIZE3361RTFE 2 B M iRk ATIKXR °

Beneficiary owner
Note:

The 232,560,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Yang, who is an
executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any
person who had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares as at 31 December 2022, which are required to be notified to the
Company under the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited



30

ESHRE

Directors’ Report

BEROIES 22 H

ARRR) - HAEMMERAR - EWE A 7 KR ZH
BARREBEFE T AREMSETT L ERZHE -
HEEFAEBEARARTMEMEAERR
B ERES (BREER) ME::S -

BRERXS

HE-_T-—HF+-A=1+—HItEE %R
KHIASAEEMNE TR S XS thiBKRER
B BETHEAL(EERRETMAREBERAEE
RN KRBT TIRS  MARREEBR
FHRAMBREEESENBER TMEREREAL -

BB ML BB KoL L2 BH ([%HE
W) MY EA S —F— B —AERE%
BRI ZMAEYE - HE—F - §FHS8
¥ 5 ARH540,0007T @ B HIRBFEAREX
- MARMITEST IR EEEGBEY XA
LEMNRER A RLAEAAT ZEEAL
MET s HOERARNRB Z A REEERS -

BESER-_T—N\FHLA—BEEHEETL
BERREHPNERNZ (ZER])  SERE
AAEEEEESIRBES - ZERIWEEW
FHRER20%  WHR—FREHEE FR &
& BB R AT e g - SR ERAERA
HMBEE T =4

ZMA Ty ERBNE14A 76()IEFTHE 2 XK [R5
X5 Mz BRIy LR BIZE14A.9015 115 A B
BATIRENPKEER BB RRET TR
BINEREER  AERBYREEZRT -

B ERZ BN RN EE—E - F+-A=1+—
BIEFEZYBRERWEISHEMBER R HI
THER ETREIE T NAZATIEMEER D FE
FERS -

REECITEZERARIE —B-_FFHK

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company, or any of its
holding company, its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 35 to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 also constituted
connected transactions. The following transactions between certain
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group
have been entered into and/or are continuing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to a lease (the “Lease”) entered into between Weifang Parasia
and Weifang Tianhong, Weifang Parasia leased the office premises
owned by Weifang Tianhong for a term of one year commencing from 1
January 2022 at a gross annual rental payment of RMB540,000, payable
on a pro-rata basis at the end of each quarter. Weifang Tianhong is a
connected person to the Company as Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive
Director who has voting right on operations of Weifang Tianhong. The
entering into the Lease constituted an exempted connected transaction of
the Company.

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered by Cheerhill and Weifang
Binhai (the “Loan”) on 1 September 2018 and renewal on yearly basis,
Cheerhill agreed to finance the working capital of the Group. The Loan
is unsecured and bear interest rate at 2.0% per annum, and due for
repayment within one year. During the year, Cheerhill and Weifang Binhai
entered into supplementary agreements to extend the repayment date of
the Loan to 2023.

The Lease is de minimis transaction under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing
Rules and the Loan are financial assistance from connected person
under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules thus they were exempted from
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Apart from the above transactions, other related party transactions
set out in note 35 to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above and in note 35 to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022, there were no other transactions which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and no contract of significance, between
the Company, controlling Shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries or in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, or which are required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
existed during the year under review.

CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During this financial year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the directors (including former directors) of
the Company or its subsidiaries and associated companies. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles of Association and in
the directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings
that may be brought against such directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of
the merit, qualifications and competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and Senior Management will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors
including the Group’s operating results, responsibilities required of the
Directors and Senior Management and the comparable market statistics.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Under the share option schemes adopted by the Company on 4 October
2006 (the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and the 2016 Share Option
Scheme, share options would be granted to certain Directors, employees
and other eligible participants of the Company entitling them to subscribe
for shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company. The 2006
Share Option Scheme was expired and terminated on 20 May 2016.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue upon exercise of all
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme and other share option schemes in aggregate shall not exceed
30% of the number of issued Shares from time to time. The total number
of Shares issued and which may be issued upon exercise of all options
(whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) granted in any 12-month
period to each participant must not exceed 1% of the number of Shares
in issue unless approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the Board,
which must not be more than ten years from the date of grant. Any Share
allotted and issued on the exercise of options will rank pari passu with
other Shares in issue on the date of allotment. The 2016 Share Option
Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten (10) years commencing
from 20 May 2016.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the eligible participants that become grantees. Each
share option will be vested immediately at the date when the option
is accepted. The share options will lapse immediately after the grantee
ceases to be eligible participant of the Group. The options will lapse due
to the expiry of the option’s exercise period.

The subscription price for the Shares to be issued upon exercise of the
options shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. The subscription price
will be established by the Board at the time the option is granted to the
participants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Details of the movement in outstanding share options, which have been

—TTREFEREFE R T NFERETE  granted under the 2006 Share Option Scheme and the 2016 Share
?*ﬁffﬁr'ﬁifﬂfzﬁﬁﬂﬂgzm HBET Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022 are shown as
follows:
REY RER
WATE  EAGE O FRAN HAGE
i€  Outstanding  Exercised Lapsed ~ Outstanding
RRAER RiiAH it ERAE Exercise  athbeginning  during the during  atthe end
Category of grantee Date of grant Exercise period Vesting period price of year year  the year of year
BB (W) ZE--F\AStR ZBCZENAZTRE i S 1V e AR08 2500000 2,500,000 - -
M. Liv Yang (Note (i) 30 August 2021 Z2Z\ENAZTAA Z3ZZENRZTAR HK$0.908
30 August 2022 to 29 August 2028 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022
TR-ENASTR ZECZEN\AStTRE :?:ﬁ \A=tRE AB0J08T 2500000 - - 250000
30 August 2021 ,\ﬁ NAZthA ZZZZE\AZTAA HK$0.908
30 August 2023 to 29 August 2028 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2023
RRaF2EA A (W) “R-1FHAHA ZE-RELATRE “E-ELATAR B 45T 160000 160,000 - -
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note i)) 10 July 2015 ZSIZELANA ZE-ELANA HK$1.45
10 July 2016 to 9 July 2023 10 July 2015 to 9 July 2016
E-LELATH ZE-tELATRE “E-nECATRR 8147 300000 300,000 - -
10 July 2015 S 2 1 Z3-tELAnA HK$1.45
10 July 2017 to 9 July 2023 10 July 2015 to 9 July 2017
i S 71V o2 . NA=tRE EC-ENBZTRE BB 2000000 2,000,000 - -
30 August 2021 Z2Z\ENAZTAR ZECZENRCTAR HK$0.908
30 August 2022 to 29 August 2028 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022
“R-ENA=1R SRSENMZ kS ‘f‘—ﬁ \A=1R% BB 2000000 - - 2,000,000
30 August 2021 SZ\ENAZTAR ZRIZENRZTAR HK$0.908
30 August 2023 to 29 August 2028 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2023
&I “E-LELATH “E-RELRATRE “E-nECATRR ABLST 3088000 3028000 60,000 -
Employes 10 July 2015 Z3ZZEEANA 257 EEANA HK$1.45
10 July 2016 to 9 July 2023 10 July 2015 to 9 July 2016
Z5-nEEATA T-tEtATAZ Z5-15tATAE BE1457 503,000 4,976,000 60,000 -
10 July 2015 :T:‘ﬁtﬂnﬁ ZT-tEtANA HK$1.45
10 uly 2017 10 9 July 2003 10 uly 2015109 July 2017
SR-EMNASTR CECZ#NA=THE i S 71V AR08 4500000 4500000 - -
30 August 2021 “ECN\ENAZTAA ZRIZENRZTAR Hk$0.908
30 August 2022 to 29 August 2028 30 August 2021 o 29 August 2022
SECRMZTR CECZRASTEE i S 1V e AB0J08T 4500000 - - 4500000
30 August 2021 EZN\ENAZTAA ZRZ=E\AZTAH HK$0.908
30 August 20231029 August 2028 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2023
26,584,000 17,464,000 120,000 9,000,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Notes:
(i) Mr. Liu Yang is the executive Director since 1 January 2018.

(i)~ Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as general manager of the Company
and the executive Director on 1 August 2018 and 1 January 2021
respectively.

The fair value of the existing share options of the Company calculated is
inherently subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the
limitations of the model used. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in variables so
adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an
option. Further details are set out in note 30 to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is 66,687,800
which represents 7.87% and 7.67% of the issued Shares as at 20 May
2016 (the date of which the 2016 Share Option Scheme has been
adopted by the Company) and as at the date of this annual report,
respectively. The number of Shares available for issue during the financial
year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the
year was approximately 0.078. The closing prices immediately before the
dates of grant under 2006 Share Option Scheme and 2016 Share Option
Scheme were HK$1.34 and HK$0.89 respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF BEST PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining the high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 36 to 54 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code for the financial year ended
31 December 2022.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited (“BDO").

A resolution will be proposed at 2023 AGM to re-appoint BDO as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2023
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The Company is committed to building and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December
2022, the Company had adopted the principles and complied with the
requirements set out in the “Corporate Governance Code” (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

None of the Directors is aware of information that would reasonably
indicate that the Company is not, or was not during the year under
review, in compliance with the CG Code.

The Board reviews the corporate governance practices of the Company
periodically to ensure the practices continue to fulfill the CG Code
requirements. The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group strives to improve and enrich life through continuous
improvement in its products and services. The Group's purpose is to build
a long-standing innovation, responsibility, and sustainability into the
future. The Group's values and commitments guide all its decisions and
activities.

The Group dedicates to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance across all its activities and operations which
all employees are to ensure strict compliance when dealing business.
Onboarding training in relation to the corporate values has been
mandated for all newly joined employees and refreshing training will be
provided thereafter to all employees as and when necessary.

The Group's values aligned behavior standards for its employees which
are set forth as follows:

o Ethics and Integrity: Having actions honestly, fairly and in line with
moral principal while business is being conducted.

o Trust: Being open-minded and reliable, treat others with dignity
and respect to build a trusting work environment in turn increasing
productivity and creativity.

o Caring: Serving the community and ensuring safety and well-being
of the employees of the Group.

o Excellence: Striving for the best and promoting to advancement
diligently as well as adhering to customer-oriented business
approach.

o Prudence: Planning ahead wisely and strategically to create
competitive breakthroughs for the long term.

Commitment: Contributing to the Group’s objectives and
stakeholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
strategic business direction of the Group and objectives for management
has been formulated by the Board. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day operation responsibility to the management under the
supervision of the general manager of the Company and various Board
committees. The Board reviews the performance of the Group against the
pre-determined targets and budgets on a regular basis.

Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which mainly include (i) developing and reviewing policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring and revising policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as
appropriate; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior Management; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conducts applicable
to employees and Directors; (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of
the Company; (vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s process of
information disclosure, including assessing and verifying the accuracy and
materiality of inside information and determine the form and content of
any required disclosure; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the committee
structure of the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees
and their accountability for the corporate governance practices and make
amendment(s) as appropriate; and (viii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s communication policy with Shareholders and its stakeholders.

During the year under review, the Board had (i) reviewed or updated the
communication policy, code of conduct applicable to employees of the
Group and Directors, corporate governance policy, inside information
disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal control policy,
whistleblowing policy, dividend policy, nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”), Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) and code for
dealing in securities policy of the Company etc.; (ii) developed and
adopted anti-corruption policy; (iii) reviewed and assessed the training
records of Directors; (iv) reviewed the effectiveness of the committees
structure of the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees
and their accountability for the corporate governance practices; and
(iv) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited

3/



U2 frb N/ E
J/J:\ E/ﬁ#&%

Corporate Governance Report

58 (#)

ENY

REEFE EFEH=-"F2NTEETR=28BY
FHNTEZAK - SEZSNREHRAFRE0
ENH -EFEREHNE BREZHABED
SEEXBEEREREBCEENE KBE
KET - BUFNTES (AP RL—BAGLE
BEXRERA T HAMBERERNE) ARS
TUALRI B R AR R AR B - B AU 1 5 R SRS J
BRTEMAEEEBRLER REEEYE-=
BEZRAGSHRARERNYRRMEBZEE
THPER  AAKEZEBRBEHER -

IR EFEEKRERARRALIE 2 W ER
B X% REREMEAIMBEBERER - BFH
A ATIERBI HE - NRATERERBIIFH
TEEFRAFBIUEERNFERRE - LEW
BEZBLMNTE EWRANRTE

ARRREEZNSRBERBAENE ERRE -
AR E R ERES M ST EFRERE
ORI 86 B i S Am et o

EEEHVM

BIUFATES (BILERTES]) AR
Fhe - WHEBREBEAKEZ BER B NEERRE
AEBEREBENRBAUEST SN TIFELER -
MEERYERBTEESS EFTZE8T2
LtERKREBYRALRERREZER - HEN
B LEARAKENEHRHETIARE -BF
GZHBRERBIUIFNTES AR AEHE
EEEERNEZIORRE  BIUFNTESE
HEBRHRRXSELBLAE - LEIHEA
SmERREFENONIN - PITE S KRB REME
BBEMIFATESFTNERNREE -

REECITEZERARIE —B-_FFHK

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition

During the year under review, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 11 of
this annual report. The composition of the Board is well balanced with
each Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or expertise
relevant to the business operations and development of the Group. The
independent non-executive Directors, with at least one possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise, who offer diversified expertise and experience,
contribute significantly to the important function of advising management
on strategy and policy development. All the Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have
exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing to the
successful performance of the Group.

There is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship among the Chairman, members of the Board and the
general manager of the Company. All of them are free to exercise
their independent judgment. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of
their independence and is satisfied with their independence in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The Company maintains appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers for their liabilities arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.

Independence of the Board

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) possess sufficient
caliber and contribute to the Board process by monitoring and reviewing
the performance of the management of the Group against goals and
objectives of the Group. All Directors are encouraged to express freely
their independent views and constructive challenges during the Board/
Board committees meetings. Their views and opinions provide alternate
perspectives to the Group’s business. Half of the Board is comprised of
INEDs and when reviewing the proposals or decisions reported by the
management of the Group, INEDs bring independent judgement to
bear on business activities and transactions, particularly in circumstances
involving conflicts of interest and complexities. INEDs" comments and
concerns will be seriously followed up and addressed by the executive
Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independence of the Board (Continued)

Key mechanisms to enhance independence of the Board:

. As required under the Listing Rules, the audit committee (the
"Audit Committee"), remuneration committee (the "Remuneration
Committee") and nomination committee (the "Nomination
Committee") of the Company either are chaired by INEDs and/or
comprised of a majority of INEDs;

. If an INED has served on the Board for more than nine years, his/her
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders;

o INEDs are not granted equity-based remuneration with
performance-related elements;

o Rigorous recruitment criteria for INEDs which considers amongst
others, the INED’s time commitment and professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise;

o At least one-third of the Board shall be comprised of INEDs;

J Half of the Board is comprised of INEDs, who individually bring
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct, scrutinise the Group’s performance in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring
performance reporting and take the lead where potential conflicts
of interest arise;

o Directors have access to external independent professional advice
where necessary and would be reimbursed for any professional fees
in relation to their fulfilment of the roles and responsibilities; and

o INEDs are required to declare their independence at appointment
and thereafter annually which is reviewed by the Nomination
Committee as and have a continuous duty to disclose any change in
circumstances affecting their independence.

The Nomination Committee regularly reviews the structure, size,
composition and performance of the Board. The Nomination Committee
also reviews the independence of INEDs annually based on the
independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules. The independence of
INEDs is reviewed at the time of their appointment and thereafter.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms annually to ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board. The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards
and checks to ensure that the decision-making process of the Board is
independent and based on the collective decision of Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

According to the Articles of Association, any new Director appointed by
the Board (in case of filling a casual vacancy or an addition to the existing
Board) is subject to retirement and re-election by Shareholders at the next
general meeting of the Company or at the next annual general meeting
of the Company (in case of an addition of Board member) following his
appointment. At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, are required to retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation will be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment but as between persons who become or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those retire will (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. To further enhance
accountability, any further re-appointment of an INED who has served the
Company for more than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the Shareholders.

As all the INEDs have served more than nine years on the Board, the
length of tenure of each existing INEDs has been disclosed on a named
basis in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the annual general meeting. Furthermore, an
additional INED has been proposed to be appointed at 2023 AGM. For
details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 27 April 2023.

Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the Company
before the expiration of his period of time (but without prejudice to any
claim which such Director may have for damages for any breach of any
contract between him and the Company).

Training

All Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities as Directors and
of the business and activities of the Group. A briefing is provided and
organised to ensure that each newly appointed Director is familiar with
the role of the Board, his/her legal and other duties and responsibilities
as Director as well as the business and corporate governance practices
of the Group. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) will continuously update all Directors on latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
so as to familiar compliance of the same by all Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Training (Continued)

During the year under review, all Directors received regular updates and/
or briefings on changes and developments to the Group’s business.
Besides, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of reading materials relevant
to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Directors are requested to
provide their records of training to the Company Secretary for record.

The Company Secretary has attended no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge during the year
under review.

Chairman and general manager

The Chief Executive bears the title of general manager. In order to
reinforce the independence and accountability, the roles of the Chairman
and the general manager of the Company are segregated and performed
by Mr. Liu Yang and Mr. Chen Xiaohua respectively. There is a clear
distinctive responsibility of the Chairman to mainly provide leadership
for the Board and ensure the Board is functioning properly, with good
corporate governance practices and procedures, whilst the general
manager of the Company is responsible for managing the day-to-day
operations, implementing business strategies and policies approved by the
Board, developing and formulating the organisational structure, internal
control systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s
approval. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
general manager of the Company has been clearly defined and set out in
writing.

Board meeting

The Board meets regularly at least 4 times every financial year. The
Directors participated in person or through electronic means of
communication. All regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate the possible fullest attendance. The meeting agenda is set after
consulting with members of the Board. Each Director is invited to present
any agenda that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Directors are required to abstain from voting and will not be counted in
the quorum present in the Board meeting if any Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board.

The Directors have been invited to include any matters which they
thought appropriate in the agenda for the Board meetings. Notice of
Board meeting at least 14 days has been given to each Board member.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors not less than 3 days before the
Board meetings (or such other period as agreed) to ensure timely access
to relevant information. Each Director is able to access the management
of the Group separately and independently if more information is
required. All Directors are permitted to seek independent professional
advice, if required, at the Company’s expenses.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meeting (Continued)

During the year under review, 4 Board meetings were held. The Directors
have discussed the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial
performance of the Group, including annual budgets, annual and interim
results, approval of major capital investments and other significant
operational and financial matters etc. The Directors are kept informed
on a timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s business,
including amendments to relevant rules and regulations. The Board’s
papers and minutes of the Company are kept by the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. All draft and
final versions of minutes have been circulated to the Directors for review,
comment and record within 14 days after each Board meeting.

Board committees

The Board has established the following committees with defined terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted
on the Company’s website and also available to Shareholders upon
request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Leung Kam
Wan, Mr. Gao Baoyu and Mr. Liu Chenguang. Mr. Leung is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and he possesses recognised professional
qualifications in accounting as required by the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include:

(i)  ensuring the Group’s financial statements, annual and interim
reports, and the auditor’'s report present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group's financial position and complying of the
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other requirements in
relation to financial reporting;

(i) reviewing the Group’s financial and internal controls;

(i) reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(iv) recommending the appointment and remuneration of the
independent auditor of the Company; and

(v)  other duties are set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had discussed the
following matters:

(i) reviewing the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company and discussing with the independent
auditor of the Company the nature and scope of the audit for the
year ended 31 December 2022;

(i) reviewing the Group’s significant internal controls and financial
matters as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference with
management of the Company;

(i)  reviewing the audit findings provided by the independent auditor of
the Company, and discussing with the Board on the matters where
action or improvement is needed;

(iv)  reviewing the Group’s accounting principles and practices, Listing
Rules and statutory compliance, internal controls and financial
reporting matters;

(v)  reviewing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 and interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2022; and

(vi) reviewing the terms of remuneration of the independent auditor
of the Company with the Board on the re-appointment of the
independent auditor of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had also participated
to (i) review the self-assessment report on compliance of CG code; (ii)
evaluate the sufficiency of resources, the qualification and the experience
of the employees who were responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting of the Group, and the sufficiency of training courses received
by them,; (iii) review and approve the annual budget of the Group; (iv)
review annual internal audit report of the Group; and (v) review the inside
information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal control
policy, whistleblowing policy and anti-corruption policy of the Company
etc.

On 24 March 2023, the Audit Committee held a meeting to review the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group are in accordance with the current best practices
in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee found no unusual items that
were omitted from the financial statements and was satisfied with the
disclosures of information as shown in the financial statements.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited

43



44

U2 frb N/ E
J/J:\ E/ﬁ#&%

Corporate Governance Report

FINEE SN TIREABUIFNITERIIRCEL -
Ht =R ERBUERTEETRRBELL 55
VHRTEZSEEIRERNTERRG L -
FHNEB G2 AMOKEE RBUIFNTES -

FMZEET288  (\AEEFSMIIEER
ENER YEERBRABEQRNOHM AN
B By R B B DA e N B T P L e BB A e 1 1B 1
- ZHENEERSREEASNTMEREK
VTREFSROERER  (IFHARAZER
A8 DA R EMEFMER TR I
MESSROERER RS ERIHLESH
MEMBE -

FHZE SR ERRMERERERNER W
FTHEZEERRERTE NMASKEXER -#
MEZEeTEREETRAEMBNEMBEIR

REBEFE  FMEZEEEE  (EZETLENT
BGRHE EHNEBETRSREEABZFHM
F&(ERE2ZHEENMBRE  AEENKEX
BNDERNEERR)  YRNEFSREERE
RAHHE  (NEHNEERSREEABZFHM
KR RiNEHEFONRGEOGRR - SEFH
TR2ETAEEERTHFMH TR IORESR

FA - HERBEREANRABRES SR DBER
B AT EEEANRBRETENENSE

RHNEZ B GEH -

FEBUR
EENRREBAEBNFHBRRIESEERAS
BrRAIEARTEERSREBAENMERIT(ER
BARENAARRANEEXBRELEERE)
ey EMIELIRB R AR - EERSREEA
BewmFrBEEZaREANHH  HaEs - B
BIEAL R IR - NEE S M TR B V556
ARARE2EMSHKEERUEBE R BRI
NRIFTER B S AE -

REECITEZERARIE —B-_FFHK

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Chenguang, an INED,
with Mr. Leung Kam Wan, an INED, Mr. Gao Baoyu, an INED and Mr. Liu
Yang, an executive Director, as the three other members. The majority
members of the Remuneration Committee are INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
of individual Director and Senior Management, with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives as well as considering salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities,
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; (ii) reviewing
the Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure and other
compensation-related issues and making recommendations to the Board;
and (iii) other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman on its
proposals and recommendations, and also has access to professional
advice if deemed necessary by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee is also provided with other resources enabling it
to discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had (i)
reviewed the remuneration packages for all the Directors and the
Senior Management by reference to their responsibilities and duties,
the Group’s operating results and achieved corporate objectives,
after taking into account also the comparable market conditions and
made recommendations to the Board for approval; (ii) reviewed the
remuneration policy for the Directors and the Senior Management;
and (iii) reviewed the terms of service contract of the Directors. No
Director shall participate in any discussion and resolution about his own
remuneration.

During the year, since there was no share option granted under the
Company’s share option scheme, no material matter relating to the
Company'’s share option scheme has been reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee.

Remuneration policy

The primary goal of the remuneration policy for Directors and Senior
Management is to enable the Group to retain and motivate executive
Directors and Senior Management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against the corporate objectives of the
Company. The principal elements of the remuneration package for
Directors and Senior Management include basic salary, other benefits,
discretionary bonus and share option. In determining guidelines for each
compensation element, the Company will make reference to market
remuneration surveys on companies operating in similar business and
comparable scale.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Remuneration policy (Continued)

The remuneration of non-executive Directors mainly comprises directors’
fees which is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
in connection with the performance of their duties including attending
the Company’s meetings.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang, an executive
Director, with Mr. Liu Chenguang and Mr. Leung Kam Wan, as the two
other members, both are INEDs. The majority members of the Nomination
Committee are INEDs.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess the
independence of INEDs; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors; (v) develop and review the Board Diversity Policy; (vi) develop
and review the Nomination Policy; and (vii) discharge other duties as
set out in its specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is
provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

Diversity

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board which includes gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and the legitimate interests of the principal Shareholder.
The Nomination Committee will from time to time review and agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board (the
“Measurable Objectives”). As the gender of all members of existing
Board are male only, the Measurable Objectives have been revised to (i)
at least one third of the Directors shall be INEDs; (i) at least one Director
shall have obtained accounting or other professional qualifications; and
(iii) at least one member of the Board is female. The revised Measurable
Objectives have been incorporated into the Directors succession plan of
the Company as one of the succession criteria.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Diversity (Continued)

In order to achieve the latest Measurable Objectives, the election of an
additional female INED has been proposed at 2023 AGM. For details,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 27 April 2023.

As the workforce to handle the production of the Group required specific
skill sets which are heavily skewed towards male from the labour market,
female only accounted for 17.0% of the Group’s workforce while male
accounted for 83.0% as at 31 December 2022. Although the Group
has no plan or measurable objective set for achieving gender equality
in workplace, the recruitment principle of the Group is always based on
individual capability instead of gender.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will also consider the merits and contribution
of any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director with due regard for the diversity of the Board so as
to complement the existing Board.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation to the following in assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate:

- integrity and ethics;
- commitment in respect of available time;
- relevant interests with the Group or the Group’s members;

- government relations and the ability of public affairs
communication;

- compliance with the relevant regulators requirements;

- diversity in all aspects (as described in the Board Diversity Policy);
and

- any other factors that the Nomination Committee or the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available, the
"gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be elected as a
Director. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee had (i) assessed
the current structure, size and composition (including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) reviewed
the independence of the INEDs; (iii) reviewed and recommended the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors for Shareholders’ approval at
annual general meeting; (iv) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; (v)
reviewed the Directors’ succession plan; and (vi) reviewed the Nomination
Policy.

Safety and Environmental Protection Committee

The Safety and Environmental Protection Committee is responsible
for enhancing the safety and environmental protection as well as
effectiveness of production operations that would eliminate the main
operating risks of the Group. The Safety and Environmental Protection
Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang, an executive Director and other
members are Mr. Gao Baoyu, an INED and Mr. Li Yuguo, a director of
Weifang Parasia. The primary duties of the Safety and Environmental
Protection Committee include:

(i) formulating the Group’s overall safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations;

(i)  establishing and maintaining a safety and environmental production
operating system of the Group;

(iii)  inspecting and monitoring the productions and operations of the
Group to ensure the Group’s safety and environmental protection
policies and regulations are implemented effectively;

(iv)  ensuring the production operations of the Group are complied with
all relevant rules and regulations promulgated by relevant regulators
and authorities from time to time; and

(v)  handling and responding to all complaints regarding the safety and
environmental issues and make recommendations to the Board for
improvement.

During the year under review, the Safety and Environmental Protection
Committee had (i) reviewed the effectiveness of safety and environmental
works and/or projects conducted during the year; (ii) identified potential
projects in respect of production processes to enhance and improve
environmental and conservation of energy that will be enforced in near
future.

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited

47



48

U2 frb N/ E
J/J:\ E/ﬁ#&%

Corporate Governance Report

EEE(#E)
REEFE SEFHFESARE BHELE
BEEARREAFAGZEHMNIMT :

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year under review, the attendance record of each Director
at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and annual general
meeting is set out below:

HEGELE
Attendance of meetings
z2RK
RFEE BRZEE
A& Safety and
Annual EVZEE FMZEEE RHEZEE Envionmental
general Ezg Audit Remuneration Nomination  Protection
meeting Board Committee = Committee = Committee = Committee
HITEE Executive Directors
BIG S s Mr. Liu Yang*’ 1/1 4/4 173 11 111 1/1
IFI%SE Mr. Wang Zijiang 1/1 4/4 - - - =
BREERE Mr. Chen Xiaohua 17 4/4 - - - -
BYKHTEE  INEDs
ZEBELET46 Mr. Leung Kam Wan'46 n 4/4 3/3 n n -
BEREEE? 4 Mr. Gao Baoyur“8 1/1 4/4 33 111 = 111
BIEH%E2 36 Mr. Liu Chenguang?®6 1/1 4/4 33 111 11 =
EEE Management
FEE LA Mr. Li Yuguo? - - - - = 1/1
B F - Notes:
1. BRZEEEXF 1. Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. BRZRZBEgNE 2. Member of the Audit Committee
3. FMNEZBEEeXRE 3. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4. HMEEEKE 4. Member of the Remuneration Committee
5. REZEgXRE 5.  Chairman of the Nomination Committee
6. REZBEKE 6.  Member of the Nomination Committee
7. ZE2RBREEGER 7. Chairman of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee
8. Z2RERREBGKE 8. Member of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee

BREMEFTSSRIN REBEFE TFEEDR
BYFRTESHEREEMATESTLRENBR

N

TR/RITT—RkEHE-

BEVSE:2
BEERRNRE—MEACRETER  ARRR
RBATRILALE - B RBENFABAR
RIMRIR - R KA B PR T o

BB RFARBEATBERRER G LR
HUAEBUBHRRNEE - THBREEE(ERE
REFTIEANEBMBERER - BEENEBENER
B HRRHEEENAREFRS5E598 2 [ B
BUEmIRE | -
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Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman held a meeting
with all INEDs, without the presence of other executive Directors during
the year under review.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to Shareholders and the public pursuant to all types of statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
the applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements for the Group are
published in a timely manner. The Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 55 to 59 of this report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staffs of the accounting and
financial reporting function of the Group and also considered the training
programs and budget during the year under review.

Monthly updates have been provided to the Board timely during the year
under review. Management is also required to provide detailed reports
and explanation to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
before approval of the Group’s financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s system of internal
control and risk management through maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group to safeguard the Group's assets and
the Shareholders’ investment.

The Board is also responsible for the overall risk management functions
of the Group. Risk management procedure has been set up and
implemented for the overall operations of the Group, which is in place
to provide a consistent approach on the risk management processes in
identification, assessment, treatment and reporting of all risks identified
that would affect key business activities.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group comprise
a comprehensive organisational structure and delegation of authorities,
with responsibilities of each business and operational units clearly
defined and authorities assigned to individuals based on experience and
business needs. Systems have been designed to (i) help the achievement
of business objectives and safeguard assets against unauthorised use
and disposition; (ii) ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations, and ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the business or for
publication; and (iii) identify, manage and mitigate key risks to the Group.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
established to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks
of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.

An internal audit department of the Group is established to ensure that
all internal control procedures, compliance controls procedures and risk
management measures and procedures are properly implemented. The
internal audit department of the Group is also responsible for formulating
the control measures to put in place and aims to establish more
comprehensive management systems so as to support the continuous
business development of the Group. The internal audit department of
the Group will report to the executive Directors and/or Board directly
and periodically after performing independent reviews and examinations
on the risks associated with and controls over various operations and
activities within the Group and evaluating their adequacy, effectiveness
and compliance.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

During the year under review, the internal audit department of the Group
performed internal control review and examination on the sales and
marketing department of the subsidiaries of the Company. The findings
have been reported directly to the Board. The general manager of the
Company is responsible for implementing improvement measures on
the recommendations suggested by the internal audit department of the
Group. The improvement progress on these audit recommendations will
be followed up on a regular basis by internal audit department of the
Group later on.

The Directors will constantly review the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group at least annually to ensure the
systems remain sound and effective on an ongoing basis. During the year
under review, the Directors had reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group and considered
that they are effective and adequate. Besides, the executive Directors
participate in the monthly management meetings of the subsidiaries of
the Company to review the their financial and operational procedures,
fraud investigations (if any), productivity efficiency and effectiveness
etc., and/or meetings held as and when required to address or rectify
irregularities immediately.

In addition, pursuant to the whistleblowing policy of the Group,
employees can report any ethical misconduct, impropriety or fraud cases
within the Group to the INEDs or the Chairman anonymously in writing
without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination, disadvantage or
dismissal.

The Board is responsible for the handling of the dissemination of inside
information and compliance of other financial disclosure requirements.
The Board is fully aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information of the Group should be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable. The Company has developed
an inside information disclosure policy with reference to the Guide on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission. Any unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
is strictly prohibited under the inside information disclosure policy of the
Company. The inside information disclosure policy of the Company has
also clearly defined the procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group's affairs and ensure the strict confidentiality of inside
information prior to its disclosure. Employees who are privy or have access
to unpublished inside information of the Group have also been notified
on the adoption of the Model Code by the Company and on observing
the restrictions pursuant to Parts XIll and XIV of the SFO. The Board will
review the inside information disclosure policy regularly to make revisions
or amendments thereto, if necessary.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Whistleblowing and anti-corruption polices

The Board has approved and adopted a whistleblowing policy in
December 2012 which has been revised in June 2022 to incorporate a
few enhancement initiatives introduced by the amended CG Code. The
main objective of this policy is to provide employees of the Group and
external parties an open and unified reporting channel and procedures to
report any serious misconduct or malpractice involving the Group and its
employees even on an anonymous basis. The Audit Committee has been
delegated with the overall responsibility for monitoring and reviewing the
implementation and effectiveness of this policy.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy in March 2022 and
subsequently has been revised in June 2022 to establish the general
principles of business ethical standards that all employees of the Group
are expected to follow in daily operation. Every employee of the Group is
required to undertake to adhere to this policy which includes provisions
dealing with conflict of interests, protection and proper use of assets
of the Group, bribery and corruption, dishonesty and fraudulent act as
well as reporting procedures for potential illegality and misconduct. The
Group applies zero tolerance to any violation of this policy and shall not
tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. The Audit Committee has the overall
responsibility for reviewing the internal control procedures in relation to
the anti-corruption policy of the Company.

During the year, no incident involving serious fraud or misconduct
complaint have been received from the employees of the Group nor
external parties which had or would have a material impact on the
Group’s financial position and overall operations. No significant area
of concern is noted on the implementation and effectiveness of the
whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies.
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code governing
securities transactions of the Directors. Each of the Directors has
confirmed, upon specific enquiry, his compliance with the Model Code
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. The Company has
also adopted written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for the relevant employees. The Senior Management, who,
because of their office in the Group, is likely to be in possession of
inside information, has been requested to comply with the provisions
of the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors. No incidents of non-compliance of the
employees’ written guidelines by the relevant employees were noted by
the Company during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the "EGM")

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionist(s).

If the request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders making
the request will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
must be in writing with contact information of the Shareholders and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.



B REER (42)
RERASREER2ER

BB S AR (GRS R]) AR B 1R 4R A
mAFRRABRRAR LIR2RBRZ G
REMASBEEOBRKI - A BRAM
EESRAANERHEASIURMNER - I
K18 L X BRRRSRIAS 2 M & RATL 2
25 BRBRERBIAS AREZEEE RN
ZEMEE -

REMASEES 2R
REBEABSZMAESSEK RIFEEEHESR
E LA REAS LRENESIN AL
BEEREEMRRAS L2BRES  HEMEIN
TERAMERN W  AEREEBREFEAGLNE
ERENRRBRR (LFRSEA L) REER
B HEAKRBREEBEALZENER - LW
FERBALRERTREEBERHINZALR
B EMARAE13.512QR 2R E =K 2 EABER
BN ARXARAEBEBERMBHAE AT
WE mBLEEBMZHERIARELDA
BiHBARBARTREECRTEMERZBRA
ERERER  IXEBEMZBERNTHETE
BIRERARGZFRBSEAMAG  BTRER
BRARRARER2TEMA 7B

B

REBFEA  AARNABEENAREEA
AW EES ARFRNABERN _T =45
BEAFAE LIRFRERZRAMA - HALKRE
BBBRIRERR T AEE -

HERRNEBBERREERE

ARBRBR BREFAGREMERRIERS
HENERRE ESEMAKBHRRAE N
HERRBFAS  ERREALOERENE
i MRS AZ BB IR & R R RGA S KRG AR
EBRREHR ERRBFASHNBR KX /F
HeFamBRRERRZEF  RREEBRRL
BERREHOEMRER -

AL £ s/
fi= E/ﬁ#&%

Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move resolutions at
the general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as
a Director under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (as amended from
time to time) or the Articles of Association. However, Shareholders may
suggest proposals by sending written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary following the procedures set out in the paragraphs
headed “Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” above to
convene an EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.

Right to propose a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a written notice signed by a member of the Company
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected including that person’s
biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, shall
have been lodged at the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven
(7) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s memorandum of association
and articles of association during the year under review. The Company
proposed to amend Articles of Association at the forthcoming 2023 AGM
and it is subject to the passing of a special resolution by the Shareholders.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers its annual general meeting as an important
channel for face-to-face dialogue with all Shareholders. All members
of the Board use their best endeavour to attend the annual general
meeting to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries. External
independent auditor is also available at the annual general meeting to
address Shareholders’ queries. At the commencement of annual general
meeting, the chairman of the meeting will explain the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll and then answers any questions from Shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

In order to promote effective communication with Shareholders, the
Company has adopted an inside information disclosure policy, which
were reviewing by the Board regularly to ensure its effectiveness, to
enhance the level of transparency and ensure information disclose in
announcements, annual and interim reports is timely, fair, accurate,
truthful, and complete thereby enabling the Shareholders as well as
potential investors to make rational and informed decisions. Shareholders
can grasp the latest business developments and financial performance
of the Group from all such reports and announcements, which can
be accessed via the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange. All Shareholders’ communications are also available on the
Company’s website. The website of the Company also provides email
address, postal address, fax number and telephone number by which
Shareholder may direct enquires to the Company’s investor relations
manager. The Company’s investor relations manager is ready to respond
the enquiries from Shareholders and potential investors on a timely basis.

In addition, the Company strives to promote and maintain constant
dialogue with Shareholders through various means. The chairman of
the Board and the investor relations manager are the key spokespersons
of the Company in all external media communications and respond to
inquiries from Shareholders regularly and/or as and when required, hence,
Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately communicated to the
Company.

The Board believed that all the aforementioned arrangements
implemented effectively during the year as the Board did not aware any
dissatisfactory feedback from Shareholders.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The annual fees payable to the independent auditor of the Company for
non-audit services and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the
Audit Committee. The provision of non-audit services by the independent
auditor of the Company requires prior approval of Audit Committee so
as to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company will not be impaired. Details of the fees paid or
payable to the independent auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Audit services
Non-audit services
Review of interim financial statements

HK$1,000,000

HK$100,000

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2023
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDE CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tiande
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 140, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
“Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable

Refer to note 37(iii)(c) and (d), and the Group's critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and bills
receivable set out in note 4(ix) to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is estimated based
on an expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Loss allowances for trade and bills receivable are measured
with ECLs which result from all possible default events over the expected
life. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The
assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs involves significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future.

As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying amount of the Group’s trade and
bills receivable was RMB792,226,000 (note 18). Allowance for impairment
amounting to RMB1,265,000 (note 37(iii)(c)) had been made over these
balances.

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and considerable amount of judgement being
required in conducting impairment assessment prepared by management
as mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.

Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivable included:

Obtaining an understanding of how impairment is estimated by
management;

- Assessing the measurement of ECLs of trade and bills receivable
by obtaining the understanding of approach being adopted by the
Group;

- Testing the ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable, on a sample
basis, to the source documents;

- Reviewing the reasonableness of the use of ageing profile, historical
settlement pattern, historical default rates, forecast economic
conditions and forward-looking information in the ECLs model; and

- Checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data used in
the ECLs model.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Au Yiu Kwan

Practising Certificate Number P0O5018

Hong Kong, 25 March 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
HEZZT-—_F+=F=+—HLFE For the year ended 31

December 2022

—E-C—F —E-—F
2022 2021
B 5T AR¥ET T ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B Revenue 6 3,520,608 2,584,731
SHE RN Cost of sales (2,042,173) (1,806,861)
EF Gross profit 1,478,435 777,870
H A AR ES Other income and gains 6 19,972 8,439
HEMEEGERE Revaluation losses on investment properties 14 (700) (1,300)
HEMY Selling expenses (77,782) (85,076)
TR HA & BRI Administrative and other operating expenses (132,207) (157,227)
B TSR AN Finance costs 7 (2,767) (6,450)
BRI 5 AR A Profit before income tax 8 1,284,951 536,256
e Y Income tax expense 9 (326,964) (143,806)
FEREA Profit for the year 957,987 392,450
EiRFEEEF Profit for the year attributable to:
RAREAA Owners of the Company 870,924 379,647
R i ay Non-controlling interests 87,063 12,803
957,987 392,450
MAtEANREE AFEM  Earnings per share for profit attributable to
FERAMS 2EMAEF  owners of the Company for the year 12
— &R — Basic AR¥1.0147T AR#0.4467T
RMB1.014 RMBO0.446
—#E — Diluted AR%1.0047T AR#0.4467T
RMB1.004 RMBO0.446

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
HEZZFT-_F+= 8 =+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERA Profit for the year 957,987 392,450
Hit 2 ER = Other comprehensive income
FrEEFIBZERGER2ER Items that will not be reclassified to the
income statement:
MEER 7 IE H W Exchange gains on translation differences 14,672 98
FEHMZERKE Other comprehensive income for the
year 14,672 98
FEXEKEZEE Total comprehensive income for the year 972,659 392,548
B FE2ERREHE : Total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to:
PIN/NTEZ 2 SN Owners of the Company 886,070 379,588
FEPZE ) Non-controlling interests 86,589 12,960
972,659 392,548
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZE-_—F+=HB=+—H As at 31 December 2022

—E2-C—F —E-—F
2022 2021
BisE ARET ARBT T
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
EEHEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FRBEE Non-current assets
ENE YN Property, plant and equipment 13 1,141,012 1,085,192
EREEE Right-of-use assets 34 83,318 62,382
"EYZE Investment properties 14 20,900 21,600
B AE Intangible asset 15 8,567 10,371
EEMZE - BE K Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
HEZENET2 plant and equipment 131,071 54,893
EETH IR E 2= Deferred tax assets 16 7,795 7,888
1,392,663 1,242,326
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 17 183,897 213,273
2 Z IR M RN EE Trade and bills receivable 18 792,226 512,690
TESFIE R EAEUGRIA  Prepayments and other receivables 19 99,311 122,090
BHEMRITER Pledged bank deposits 20 - 3
FEHIfE K Time deposits 21 197,463 —
RIT RIS R Bank and cash balances 21 294,667 226,349
1,567,564 1,074,405
REAE Current liabilities
H S ERTER Trade payables 22 49,840 47,378
FERT AR ER TR R Accruals and other payables
HAbER I 23 210,296 221,607
aREE Contract liabilities 24 25,520 21,427
RITIER Bank borrowings 25 - 60,000
IR I R E R Advances from a non-controlling shareholder 26 5,655 5,175
FERRHR Advances from a substantial shareholder/
Y NEIELE ultimate holding company 27 45,724 94,760
MENTRIAA & Current tax liabilities 71,297 93,186
408,332 543,533
REBEERE Net current assets 1,159,232 530,872
HWEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,551,895 1,773,198

REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZE-__HF+=-F=+—H As at 31 December 2022

—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
B AR¥ET T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FknBEB Non-current liabilities
EEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 16 47,733 18,388
BEFE Net assets 2,504,162 1,754,810
= EQUITY
&N Share capital 28 7,986 7,831
(e Reserves 29 2,401,835 1,739,227
AAREE AEIEER Equity attributable to the Company’s
owners 2,409,821 1,747,058
e HIRE R Non-controlling interests 94,341 7,752
e Total equity 2,504,162 1,754,810

FO0RI4A0EN A M BHRIER T -_=F=4
“ThAREARREFTSREL RETE X H
ATHERE

g5
LIU YANG
kg

Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 140 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 25
March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

EFFI
WANG ZIJIANG
£

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E2-C—F —E-—F
2022 2021
BisE ARET ARETTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
KEEKRELEZRESME  Cash flows from operating activities
R B 15 350 A g A Profit before income tax 1,284,951 536,256
BT EIBIERE Adjustments for:
IR i S E LARR D S22 Equity-settled share-based payment

RIEFA X expenses 8 1,928 793
|RITAEHA Bank interest income 6 (2,714) (743)
FIEFX Interest expenses 7 2,767 6,450
FREEEHHE Amortisation of right-of-use assets 8 1,939 1,837
A E Amortisation of an intangible asset 8 1,804 1,804
e Depreciation 8 125,472 121,723
MO Z Pl B3R )R E 2 Reversal of write-down of inventories

GFEOR - 558 to net realisable value, net 8 - (124)
Y R REEZ M Write-off of property, plant and equipment 8 - 18,980
KEYESHEE Revaluation losses on investment properties 14 700 1,300
Z ZREBRREREE (Reversal of)/Provision for impairment

(BB Bt - F58 losses on trade receivables, net 8 (235) 522
H WO IE RV E BT 1R (Reversal of)/Provision for impairment

(B8 s loss on other receivables 8 (1,703) 1,980
EL th f& S0 IE 2 WS Write-off of other receivables 8 - 12
B 5 FE W AR 2 M 8H Write-off of a trade receivable 8 2 =
HEME - BERZMEZ  (Gain)/lLoss on disposals of property,

(=) BB - FE plant and equipment, net 6/8 (249) 128
EEESEHAZ Operating profit before working capital

& A changes 1,414,662 690,918
BTERL, (8 Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 29,376 (102,367)
ZSFEWEE - FEUYWETE - Increase in trade, bills and other receivables

e U RIA K and prepayments

FARTRIAE N (253,874) (268,790)
B HREMNER - A e (Decrease)/Increase in trade payables, other

FIB K FERT AR IR payables and accruals

CRd) /1 (20,000) 3,076
EREAFEEM Increase in contract liabilities 4,093 6,974
KEXEFIERE Cash generated from operations 1,174,257 329,811
R PTEH Income taxes paid (319,415) (55,480)
AME R ELE 22 FF  Net cash generated from operating activities 854,842 274,331
REXKEEZHERE Cash flows from investing activities
W el + 4 i) 2 4 Y Compensation received from government for

AT 1E the resumption of land 10,000 125,915
BEWME  BEREHE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (262,102) (213,472)
BETAEEE Purchases of right-of-use assets 34 (22,875) =
HEME  BKER Proceeds on disposals of property,

X FTS5RIE plant and equipment 272 2,420
EEARITIF IR Decrease in pledged bank deposits 3 4
FHUE BB 77 3R Placement of time deposits (197,463) =
A E Interest received 2,714 743
RE T2 4 F58  Net cash used in investing activities (469,451) (84,390)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEZZTZ-_F+= 8 =+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
LiEzs ARBT ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%éizfﬁﬁﬁi Cash flows from financing activities
B E Dividends paid 11 (243,290) (21,423)
fﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁxﬁéﬁﬁ B50E Proceeds received from exercise
of share options 18,055 -
EAFLE Interest paid 36 (1,890) (5,360)
f%fi%ﬁﬁ?ﬂ%%’ﬂ Repayments of bank borrowings 36 (70,000) (110,000)
LRI TIE K New bank borrowings raised 36 10,000 60,000
Egﬂx%/ﬁiﬁ B&/AF]  Increase in advances from a substantial
BN - $%*B shareholder/ultimate holding company
— principal amount portion 36 - 1,676
ﬁIxﬂxﬁ/ﬁmTi /A& Repayment to a substantial shareholder/
B A% ultimate holding company — principal
amount portion 36 (50,000) (13,662)
& AT H % %58  Net cash used in financing activities (337,125) (88,769)
RekREFEIER Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
YN A 48,266 101,172
F2Re MREE@EBEE Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 226,349 125,314
SN [ R B g 2 o Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 20,052 (137)
FR7BESNIRESEEEE Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 294,667 226,349
HeRHESEHEER Analysis of balances of cash and cash
SRR equivalents 21
52 EAIRITIF 3K Short-term bank deposits 58,242 =
RITAEBR L THRRAS Cash at banks and on hand 236,425 226,349
294,667 226,349
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GEEREER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDAREARL
b
VS EXfE BB $24
Balke EGEE  DEE  Foeign Eid &
BA  RBEE  HARE  Supls  Poperty  Public  ameny  Shae  EfEE  RERA Non-  HE#
Share Share  Spedal reserve revaluation  welfare translation option Other ~ Retained £i controling Total
capital  premium  reserve fnd  reserve fund  reserve  reseve  reseve  profits Total interests  equity
ARETR ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMIR ARBTn ARMTR ARETR ARMTZ ARMTR
RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(W90 (Rf2o(o))  (Ek29(0) (b)) (baoge))  (Wbo@)  (WEDS(o))
(note 29(a)) (note 29(b)) (note 29(c) (note 29(d)) (note 29(e)) (note 29(f)) ~ (note 29(g)
H-8-Zf-f-BER Balance at 1 January 2022 T 3 e 169 633 (49 488 4081 0BG 108 7R 1754810
HZB-ERERER 2021 final dhidend and 2022 nterm
ZE2EnaRs (i didend paid note 11) - - - - - - - - -0 () - M)
REEENRIOR 23 Equitysetled share-based payment
(F30) expenses (note 30) - - - - - - -1 - -1 - 1928
RHERE (W30 Forfet of share optons (note 30) - - - - - - - (57) - 51 - -
RiRREmRARG () Shares isued flom exercise of share option (ot 30) 155 23,485 - - - - ) - B i3] 13
SR50E (W) Transfr to resenve (nofe) - - - - - - - om0 (040 - -
HERARR Transactions with owners 155 2345 - - - - - B 240 (8363) (1330 - (A
ERRA Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 8094 g% 87063 957987
Eh2EhE Other comprehensive income
EhAZER Currency ransaion diferences - - - - - B A - - - 156 () uen
EE2ENEAE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - 156 - - B0%4 86070 86589 972659
BRERRLES Appropriation to surplusresene fund - - - 9068 - - - - - (0669 - -
W-B-ZETCR=1-RER Balance at 31 December 2022 1986 138217 318 205438 1653 633 10897 120 M3 1301205 2409821 94341 2504162
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Attrbutable to owners of the Company

$ EES
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEZZTZ-_F+= 8 =+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

ARRANER
i
S EigE  ERE H
BBLNEE  EHEE  DEE  foen i 3
RE ROEE  HAEE  Supls  Popety  Rbic  ameny See  EfiEE  REEH Non- BB
Share Share  Specdl  resene  reliaton  wefae  tanskfon  opton Ofter ~ Retained fif contoling Totel
cptal  premium Tesere fund Tesere fund Teserve Teserve Teserve profts Totd  interests equty
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETr AR¥TT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000
(Ftoa) (ko)) (Hfsk9) (WFoe) (ke (Weskoed)  (sk2o(g)
(note 29~ (note 29(b)  (note 29(c)) (note 29(d)  (note 29(e))  (note 296F)  (note 29(g)
H-B=-E-F-Rk Balance at 1 January 2021 1831 114822 31182 68,338 1653 633 (4.190) 4290 490931 672610 1,388,100 (5,208) 138289
REEENRAR 2R Fquitysetted share-based payment expenses
(IE30) (note 30 - - - - - - - 1% - 7% - 793
FHZB-RERERE (W) 2020 final dhvicend paid note 1) - - - - - - - - - Dy ) -y
RERE (30 Foreitof share options (note 30) - - - - - - - (195) - 19 - - -
SREARR Transactions with owners - - - - - - - 598 - g 080 - (080
EEER Profit for the year - - - - - - - - -G MG 183 3040
Ah2EhE Other comprehensive income
gHERR Curency translation diferences - - - - - - %) - - - 59 157 9%
BRE2ENEaE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (59) - S 117 B 1% R VX I VA
BARRDRS Appropriatio to suplus resere fund - - - g6 = = = = - (69) = = =
W-B=-FtR=t-RER Balance at 31 December 2021 1831 114822 3018 114764 1653 633 (4.209) 4888 490931 934603 1,747,058 7750 1754810
B 3E - Note:
—R(CB-—F  E)RPEARKMBE(HFE])KIZ  One wholly-owned subsidiary (2021: Nil) established in the People’s Republic

B 2 A BT A B A RHR B i B AN DA B K

MEAND X EMEEHER -

of China (the

capital by enlarging its registered capital during the year.

“PRC") capitalised its retained profits to increase its paid-up
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Notes to the Financial Statements

E
1.
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— R
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Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° A~A &]
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REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

1.

F+=Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company'’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

There were no significant changes in the Group’s operations during
the year. The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 32.

The shareholdings of Cheerhill Group Limited (“Cheerhill”) were
restructured on 15 February 2022, thereby the number of issued
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) held by Cheerhill decreased
10 26.75% as at the date of issue of these financial statements. The
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) considered Cheerhill has
ceased to be the ultimate holding company of the Company but
become a substantial shareholder of the Company with effect from
15 February 2022. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 February 2022.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") because the main operations of the Group are
located in the PRC. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise stated.

The financial statements on pages 60 to 140 have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

(a)

(b)

Amended standards adopted by the Group

In the current year, the Group has applied or early adopted

for the first time, the following amended standards and

interpretations (“amended HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA,

which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial

statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January

2022.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Costs of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs that are
relevant and effective from 1 January 2022 did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies and no
material effect on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set
out in these financial statements.

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies !

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates !

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) 2

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”) %3

Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction '

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
2 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective

date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments change the requirements in HKAS 1 with
regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments
replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’
with ‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in HKAS 1 are also amended
to clarify that accounting policy information that relates
to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is
immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material.

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments replace the definition of a change in
accounting estimates with a definition of accounting
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was
deleted. However, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates was retained following clarifications:

o A change in accounting estimate that results from new
information or new developments is not the correction
of an error.

o The effects of a change in an input or a measurement
technigue used to develop an accounting estimate are
changes in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors.

Two examples (example 4-5) were added to the guidance
on implementing HKAS 8, which accompanies this standard
and one example (example 3) was deleted as it could cause
confusion in light of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 — 2022 Amendments and 2020
Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants clarify how to treat liabilities that are subject
to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent
to the reporting period. The 2022 Amendments improve
the information an entity provides when its right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months is subject
to compliance with covenants. The 2022 Amendments clarify
that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date will affect a liability’s classification
as current or non-current.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to compliance
with future covenants, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability even if it does not comply with those
covenants at the end of the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The 2020
Amendments also clarify the situations that are considered as
a settlement of a liability.
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HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments introduce a further exception from the
initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an
entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Depending on the applicable tax law,
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences may arise
on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise
upon recognition of a lease liability and the corresponding
right-of-use asset under HKFRS 16 at the commencement
date of a lease. Following the amendments to HKAS 12, an
entity is required to recognise the related deferred tax asset
and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset
being subject to the recoverability criteria in HKAS 12. An
illustrative example was also added to HKAS 12 that explains
how the amendments are applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In
addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
an entity recognises a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences, with the cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at that date.

The Directors have performed an assessment on the above
amendments to standards and interpretations and have
concluded on a preliminary basis that these amendments
would not have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in subsequent years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these financial statements are summarised
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost convention except for investment properties and bills
receivable which are stated at fair values. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
these financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation and business
combination

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested
for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and
assets meets the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular
set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at
a minimum, an input and substantive processes and whether
the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.
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3. FEEFBRMEE) 3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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(b) Basis of consolidation and business

combination (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group'’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit
or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus non-controlling interests’ share of
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to
exercise control. The Group controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and
the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal
group. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(e)

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined and are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have
been translated into RMB at the closing rates at the reporting
date. Income and expenses have been converted into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences
arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is disposed, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress (“CIP")) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost
of bringing the asset to the working condition and location
for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off the cost less their estimated residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line method, at
the following rates per annum:

4.5% - 5% or the lease term,
whichever is shorter
6% - 10%

18% - 19%

18% - 30%

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

CIP represents leasehold buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct cost of construction
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction is transferred to the appropriate
class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect
of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The assets’ estimated residual values, depreciation method
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property is
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(9)

Investment properties (Continued)

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, it is stated at fair value, unless it is still in the
course of construction or development at the reporting date
and its fair value cannot be reliably determined at that time.
Fair value is determined by an independent valuation firm,
with sufficient experience with respect to both the location
and the nature of the investment property. The carrying
amounts recognised at the reporting date reflect the prevailing
market conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in fair value or the
sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Research and development activities

Cost associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are capitalised provided they meet the
following recognition requirement:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i)  there is intention to complete the product and use or
sell it;

(i) the Group’s ability to use or sell the product is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the product will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the product can be
reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above
recognition criteria are capitalised. Capitalised development
costs are amortised over the periods the Group expects to
benefit from selling the products developed. Amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments

(a)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. These are subsequently measured
using effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. These are subsequently measured at fair
value. Interest income calculated using effective
interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade
receivables, financial assets measured at amortised
cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI. ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(o)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased if it is more than 180 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); and (2) the financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

The Group has rebutted the presumption when the
credit risk on financial assets has increased if more
than 30 days past due and other financial assets are
credit-impaired if more than 90 days past due, based on
the historical record of the Group.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non-credit impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, accruals, other payables, bank borrowings,
advances from a non-controlling shareholder and
advances from a substantial shareholder/ultimate
holding company are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(d) Effective interest method

This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(e) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset acquired separately is initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible asset acquired in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible asset with finite useful
lives is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged in administrative
and other operating expenses in profit or loss and is provided
as follows:

- Technical knowhow is amortised on straight-line
method from the date of acquisition over the estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Both estimated useful life and method of amortisation are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, annually.

Intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3.

F+=Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost
of completion and applicable selling expenses. Cost is
determined using weighted average basis, and in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leasing

Accounting as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain office premises
and certain land, irrespective of they are operating leases
or finance leases. The Group applied a single recognition
and measurement approach for all leases, to capitalise the
leases in the consolidated statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for lease
contracts with a lease term of 12 months or less or ends
within 12 months from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option (“short-term leases”).

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
of the leased assets at the end of the lease terms, the
recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated or amortised
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
lives and the lease terms. Right-of-use assets are subject to
impairment. For right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property, it is carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

)

Leasing (Continued)

Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the leases, the Group
recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease terms. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
terms reflect the Group exercising the option to terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a
change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group has applied the short-term leases recognition
exemption to leases. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. They are leased out under operating
leases, which are measured and presented according to the
nature of the assets. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over
the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on straight-line method over the periods
covered by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent
rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.
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3.

F+=Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(o)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course of the
allocation of purchase price to the assets and liabilities
acquired in a business combination. They are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition and
subsequently measured at the higher of the amount
that would be recognised in a comparable provision as
described above and the amount initially recognised less any
accumulated amortisaton, if appropriate.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax
benefits) to the extent that they are incremental cost directly
attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

0}

Sales of chemical products

Customers obtain control of the chemical products
when the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the chemical products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 180 days.

The Group's contracts with customers from the sale
of chemical products provides customers a right of
return either to exchange the same product or to be
refund in cash. The right of return gives rise to variable
consideration. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until the associated
uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The application of
the constraint on variable consideration increases the
amount of revenue that will be deferred. In addition,
a refund liability and a right to recover returned goods
assets are recognised. The Group's obligation to replace
faulty products is recognised as a provision (details in
note 3(m)).

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited

85



86

BA R R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

B
3.

EFEFE -

TESTHERBE (F)

(o)

(p)

(a)

W a2k T B (A

(i) HELBA
REEHERKZ B RAZE
MEEZ G MU SRS B
KRN BRER - BHOEEES
fERERHEEN U ERENE
B S E TR - HAT
SERSHS AR BKA -

JEXTON
R B BA BB RIS R b
) SRR -

(iii)

BEAE
ERAEEASRERTEF XN EmL
BERGHEME  MAEEES LI
AEPXMNHMRELEFERIUL AR
SEXARESHE-

BT Bh

£ A] DA & 22 £R 58 BE WCHR BT 7 B DA K%
AREBAETT A BUTHREZ P A I 5 R
HZERT  HERAABEIBA
AL - BUFRE ARIEIR R - YW/AIRS
KT il B B 4 B 458 7 1 ) PR AN BC 6 P
FOHEEESRR - ENPRBE
W% - B KRt 2 BT RS - RISIA
MBARRARER/ELRARE - LA
ERERAMEERTFREBRE

27
o ©

R AR R R B AR A e R
FE [ E AR AT S |ARREZ2 3R

EERE (EREERIN)

REBEREHERE - ~AEESRHY
% WEMRE ERREE  BYE
EARRIMERT 2 BEMNREE
NEERBENSBTIZEEEDH
BREBRIAERRZHEEED
PEFESATED KR ©

REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

3.

F+=Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease terms. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest method.

(iii)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to deliver
goods or transfer services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate, whilst those relating to the
purchase of property, plant and equipment are included as
deferred income liability in the statement of financial position
and are recognised in profit or loss on straight-line method
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income and gains” in the consolidated income
statement.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible asset and interests in
subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

F+=F=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Impairment of assets (other than financial

(r)

assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash-generating unit
("CGU"), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
CGU.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”). Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government (the
“Central Pension Scheme”).

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group’s
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation
plans to certain employees and a supplier. All employee
services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based
compensation are measured at their fair values. These are
indirectly determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the equity instruments granted vest immediately unless
the compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve in equity.
If vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to vest.

Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication
that the number of equity instruments expected to vest differs
from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

For shares transferred to an employee of the Company by
the Company’s ultimate holding company, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares granted at the grant date, and is expensed
on straight-line method over the vesting period with a
corresponding increase in equity. At each reporting date, for
shares granted to an employee with non-market performance
vesting conditions, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of shares that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to reserve.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset are capitalised, as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset, during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are being undertaken. A qualifying asset is an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when they are
incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are completed.

Accounting for income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to
the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component
of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount
is when an investment property carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption
is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these investment
properties are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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(t) Accounting for income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income tax are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in
which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in
net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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(u) Segment reporting

(v)

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the chief operating decision
makers (i.e. executive Directors) (the “CODM") for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of the
components.

The business components of the Group with the research
and development, manufacture and sale of fine chemical
products of the Group are assessed and identified as a single
operating segment. The single operating segment is reported
in @ manner consistent with the internal financial information
reporting provided to the CODM.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

0) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(viij A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation/amortisation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Estimated fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent valuation firm to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining
the fair values, the valuers have used a method of valuation
which involves input of certain estimates. The Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

Inventories valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ taste and competitors’ actions in response to serve
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by each
reporting date.

The assessment of the estimated net realisable value involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimates, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and write-down/
reversal of write-down in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate
of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGUs to which the asset
is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A
change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated
impairment provision previously made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Estimated useful life of intangible asset

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
life for its intangible asset. The estimated useful live reflects
the Group’s management’s estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of the intangible asset.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes and the timing of payment of the
related taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends, where the Group considers that
if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC
earned after 1 January 2008 will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes are provided.
Details of the unrecognised deferred tax liabilities in this
respect are set out in note 16.

Fair value measurement
Certain assets included in the Group’s financial statements
require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial and
non-financial assets based on market observable inputs or
unobservable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level
1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market
data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(viii) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties and bills
receivable at FVTPL and FVOCI respectively. For more detailed
information in relation to the fair value measurement of the
items above, please refer to note 14 and note 18.

Impairment of trade and bills receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. For bills
receivable, measurement of ECLs are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group'’s trade and bills receivable is disclosed
in note 37(iii)(c) and (d) to the financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has identified that the research and development,
manufacture and sale of fine chemical products of the Group
operates as single operating segment. The single operating segment
is reported as further described in note 3(u). No other discrete
financial information is provided other than the Group’s result
and financial position as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide
disclosures, major customers and geographic information are
presented.

Revenue for sale of fine chemical products is recognised at point in
time as when there is evidence that the control of goods has been
transferred to the customer, the customer has adequate control
over the goods and the Group has no unfulfilled obligations that
affect customer accepting the goods.

The Group’s disaggregated revenue from external customers are
divided into the following geographical areas:

—E-CF T —F

2022 2021

AR®T T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bl (Zib) The PRC (domicile) 2,601,514 1,956,610
ENfE India 420,009 232,642
EE United States of America 84,078 93,484
N3 Singapore 54,429 30,241
ipri%gs Spain 52,735 32,050
EAh Others 307,843 239,704
3,520,608 2,584,731

BERZ@E D NS mXEEQEE - i
RABDIERBDEEBRUNTE - WES
HiLWRE D ZIERBEE °

REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

The geographical location of customer is based on the location
at which the goods are delivered. No geographical location of
non-current assets is presented as the substantial non-current assets
are physically based in the PRC.
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DEBER (E) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
FEXEFEHR Information about major customer
BRI AEEFTEEEEREI0%IA LEHNER Revenue attributed from a customer that accounted for 10% or
BEBWT more of the Group'’s total revenue during the year is as follows:
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEA Customer A 531,624 353,483
EEBRH MU A MU= 6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

NEEZ T BEBCENERHEE - AEE
ZEEEBEETRREMBATREE R F
NRERLA R :

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 32. Revenue
from the Group’s principal activities and other income and gains
recognised during the year are as follows:

—EC-CF T
2022 2021
ARBTR ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
REREFHITER2EXE Revenue from contracts with customers
HERME TER Sale of fine chemical products 3,520,608 2,584,731
H AU AR Bz Other income and gains
IR T i B (B RE) Government grants (note) 3,033 6,301
A B AR 2R 1% Compensation received on settlement
SRR REE after the PRC court’s decision 2,327 =
RITH A Bank interest income 2,714 743
b W W as - R Exchange gain, net 10,395 =
HEWZE « BEMZHE U - Gain on disposals of property,
pEitC] plant and equipment, net 249 =
KEMEHR WA Rental income from investment properties 600 676
FEEUA Sundry income 654 719
19,972 8,439

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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Bz
6.

EXREREMBANBES (&)

GEX

BE-Z-_F+-A=+—RHILFE B
BTy g0 77 8 BRI AR BRI R A B A f 8 R Bl fe
HRE) - MEEAR KBS REBEE -

HE-F-—#+-A=+-ALEE BHH
RiELIE

(@)  AR2,500,0007T H o B 3 7 BT 4 R 3
HIERARRETE A K B QR 8 EEN
EERMNERE

(b) RIETRRSIHAEIBIREEERN - HPE
77 BRAT SR P 1S Y 48 KR A R #62,325,000
TCRAR X F AR R E A M B A A6 %
TEEIE o

Z SRR EAREAN AR B TR HIASIR -

6.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants are mainly
attributable to the incentives offered by the local authorities to the
subsidiaries of the Company located in the PRC for promoting various
business activities of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, government grants were mainly
comprised of:

(a) an amount of RMB2,500,000 being an incentive from the PRC
local government authorities for development of manufacturing
reform of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC;

(b) an aggregated amount of RMB2,325,000 from the PRC local
government authorities for support the business operations of
the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC during the outbreak of
COVID-19.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.

TRIIREBEREFEITGRCEREBEZ The following table provides information about contract liabilities
&R} o from contracts with customers.

—E-CF —E-—F

2022 2021

ARETT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

GRAE (HE24) Contract liabilities (note 24) 25,520 21,427

ERBEFEHRERFHNEBENRERRH -
HRERBITRAOEE N —F+=A
=+—H®E®EFESARE20,601,0007T
HNERBaE (HE24) ERAEHE S —_—
F+_A=1+—HILFEHEEE-

AEBEERATEM KRG LR E15HRNE
BEBREDEL aRBALCIEREES
R REHHR S —FHERE - ROEER
BITAHNAEENRXZERRTHE -

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. Contract liabilities as of 31 December
2021 with the net carrying amounts of RMB20,601,000 (note 24)
has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December
2022 as performance obligations satisfied.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under HKFRS 15
so that transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations under contracts for sale of fine chemical products are
not disclosed as such contracts have an original expected duration
of one year or less.
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B 7% B 7 7. FINANCE COSTS
—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBTR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RITERFE - 2EHHEE Interest on bank borrowings, of which contain a

RESRIERIER repayment on demand clause 1,803 4,510
FERRHRIER AR Interest on advances from a substantial

FREVH S shareholder/ultimate holding company 964 1,940

2,767 6,450
% F 88 BT s 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
—=E-= —E_—F
2022 2021
ARETT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B BT 15 54 A% F Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/
Bk, (GEA) ¢ (crediting):
E=0< (HEE100)) Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a))
- — Fees 430 389
— & WIBIEAREMBAN - Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits 2,518 2,490
—BRARBEHEBEFK(MFE@)) - Retirement benefit scheme contributions (note (i) 114 108
— R R A B LA IR AR 2 5 2 FRIE A X — Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 934 383
3,996 3,370
H fth 2 8 AR Other employee costs 166,651 152,483
RIRAE AT AR (T EEG)) Retirement benefit scheme contributions (note (i) 13,986 10,850
Pt 45 H LARR 19 2 1 2 BRIBF XX Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 994 410
BIESKAR Total employee costs 185,627 167,113
ZEETEN & Auditor’s remuneration 893 801
o R & E 8 (MEE34) Amortisation of right-of-use assets (note 34) 1,939 1,837
\EmR & EEHE (fe15) Amortisation of an intangible asset (note 15) 1,804 1,804
BRRAX 2 FEKRAE Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(B EG)) - B3E (note (ii)), including: 2,042,173 1,806,861
—MoRE AR FE — Reversals of write-down of inventories to net
FE R - 5 (i) realisable value, net (note Giii)) - (124)
W BERREZ Depreciation on property,

e (H5E13) plant and equipment (note 13) 125,472 121,723
M - BEREREZ Write-off of property,

8 (BT EE130) i) plant and equipment (notes 13(i) and (ii)) - 18,980
PE N (W) /18K - F58 Exchange (gain)/loss, net (10,395) 4,878
B 5 EWRRERIE (B#),~  (Reversal of)/Provision for impairment losses

B 58 (M EE37Gii)e) on trade receivables, net (note 37(jii)(c)) (235) 522
H A pEMGRIE R EE B (1) (Reversal of)/Provision for impairment loss

Bl (I EE37(3ii)e)) on other receivables (note 37(ii)(e)) (1,703) 1,980
A 8 U SR IE 2 M5 Write-off of other receivables - 12
2 5 FE AR 2 85 Write-off of a trade receivable 2 =
HEME BEREKEZ (Gain)/Loss on disposals of property,

(Mz) B8 - FRE plant and equipment, net (249) 128
RHEENHENK Lease payments in respect of

(Fts¥34) short-term leases (note 34) 3,380 3,904
it 72 A A (B 7EGv) Research costs (note (iv)) 83,431 80,598

Annual Report 2022 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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i

() HEZZ-_—_FR-_F-_—F+=-A=+— (i
AILFE - AEEWELKABHR - INE
B I ZR U A R F AR D AR FRAEEFK o
R ZFR_FT=_—F+=A=+—
B A& E N EB) A A] 4 H 8 A AR Uit
TR L s EATEE B RAER S
MEATEH 2 PRBEARSE B ZIBHHK -

(i)  TFERABIELHARE122,005,0007T (== (ii)
——%: AR¥118,407,0007T) 2 HEREITE
B R # AR%130,317,0007T (—F = —
. AR ¥117,929,0007T) 2 B E B &K
Ko BRASHENEFAELEXSITHEERN
HEReES -

i) BEEHEIERARTEABOETELS i)
A ETFE L -

(iv) FRFRAABELARBE0,000T (ZF (iv)
——&: ARM714,0007T) 2 BT ER X
R # ANR#25,733,000C (ZE=——4F : A
R #21,843,0007T) 2 HHEAEE KA - BH
SN ALELXBITHENRBES
B WESETERMEMEEBRF -

HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. KRFIBHANERN (&) 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

Notes:

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were
neither contributions forfeited by the Group nor had there been
any utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce future
contributions. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
forfeited contributions which were available for utilisation by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions to the MPF
Scheme and the Central Pension Schemes.

Cost of inventories includes approximately RMB122,005,000
(2021: RMB118,407,000) relating to depreciation expenses
and approximately RMB130,317,000 (2021: RMB117,929,000)
relating to employee costs. These amounts are included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

The reversals were mainly due to increase in net realisable value
of certain finished goods held on hands.

Research costs include approximately RMB900,000 (2021:
RMB714,000) relating to depreciation expenses and
approximately RMB25,733,000 (2021: RMB21,843,000) relating
to employee costs. These amounts are included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above and included in the
administrative and other operating expenses.

9. MBI 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

—E-CF —E2-—F
2022 2021
ARBTR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000

BNEAFRIA — AR B ZEFT1S AL Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax
—FEHRIA — Tax for the year 302,370 125,581
—BAEFEBERE — Over-provision in prior years (9,644) =
BB S TEIR T PRC dividend withholding tax paid 4,800 12,564
297,526 138,145

RIEDIE (FFEE16) Deferred tax (note 16)

—FNEA — Charged for the year 29,438 5,661
PRSHIRI S Income tax expense 326,964 143,806

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK
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PR (&)

Fr 1575 5 =2 B2 B P15 256 A e A SR DA AR B 1 3
ISR 2 B2 EBRMT ¢

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and profit before
income tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax rate is as
follows:

—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BR PRS2 Al A Profit before income tax 1,284,951 536,256
LRSI 25% Tax at PRC enterprise income tax rate
T —F 25%)FRTEZRIA  of 25% (2021: 25%) 321,238 134,064
PAHIH AR 2 B & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 750 1,423
A B AR B TEIR T PRC dividend withholding tax 34,800 12,564
A BT RERTSEIE 2 Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
MBE not previously recognised (9,158) (9,028)
RERMBER 2 MBZE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 37 3,533
KRR TIRE R R Tax concession of incentive for research and
development costs (11,142) =
RS Over-provision in prior years (9,644) =
HAt Others 83 1,250
PSR 32 Income tax expense 326,964 143,806
BHRWEL R BELEERT R - EED No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax has been made as no
BEENGT B - assessable profit derives from Hong Kong.

HE_ZT-_—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE &
N BAE AR B AR ST A BT B A R B3R T R 25%
ZE - —F 1 25%) AP B EME -

$E%J§Eiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ?%ﬁé;z TR BRI EE

NP REHBRAREMUA T NE
—H H & BR1S s PR S - M
HR B3 N B B PR R A B S A U5 % B0 10%
WIERM - RBE_E-_—F+_fF=+—
HILFE  AEEBHARERFRMN10%
TT 4 5%810%) TR K -

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% (2021: 25%) for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a withholding tax
of 5% or 10% will be levied on the immediate holding companies
outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare dividend out of
profits earned after 1 January 2008. The Group has adopted 10%
(2021: 5% or 10%) withholding tax rate for PRC withholding tax
purpose for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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10. EEREREEENHE 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEE= (a) Directors’ emoluments
ENHENTEUES M0 T : Emoluments paid or payables to each Director were as
follows:
RELE

BINER ARGXAZ
HE HERX
Retirement Equity-settled
E iR MiERA benefit ~share-based

e e Other Discretionary scheme  payment &5t
Fees Salaries benefits bonus contributions expenses Total

AR®TRE ARWTR AR®TR ARMTn ARRTR ARWTR AR®TR
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

- St 2 2022
HTES Executive Directors
2z Liu Yang - 714 2 107 38 519 1,402
FFI Wang Ziiang - 840 40 163 38 - 1,081
REE Chen Xiaohua - 525 39 66 38 415 1,083
FHTES Non-executive Director
HER(R=F== Guo Yucheng (resigned on

FE—F—HFE) 1 lJanuary 2022) - - - - - - -
By Independent

FHTES non-executive

Directors

RRE Leung Kam Wan 154 - - - - - 154
BEE Gao Baoyu 138 - - - - - 138
=i Liu Chenguang 138 - - - - - 138
- S~ Total for 2022 430 2,079 103 336 114 934 3,99

102 REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H



AR AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
HEZZTZ-_F+= 8 =+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

10. EENSNEEENNE (&) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) ESBENE (&) (a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
e

BINERN ARGRZ
FTEIHER FERX
Retirement  Equity-settled

E b7 ByfETeAL benefit  share-based
ik e Other  Discretionary scheme payment ait
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions expenses Total

ARETR  ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'0O0  RMB'O00  RWBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

—g2o-% 2021
WITES Executive Directors
85 Liu Yang - 680 2 131 36 213 1,082
FFI Wang Zijiang = 800 35 158 36 - 1,029
BZ%E (R =F -~ Chen Xiaohua (appointed

F—A—HZE)  on1lanuary 2021) = 500 35 129 36 170 870
FHITES Non-executive Director
DER(R=F== Guo Yucheng (resigned on

F—A—BEME) 1 lanuary 2022) 10 = = - = - 10
B Independent

FHITES non-executive

Directors

PRE Leung Kam Wan 137 = = - = - 137
REE Gao Baoyu 121 - - - - = 121
28t Liu Chenguang 121 = = = = - 121
“BC-F4H Total for 2021 389 1,980 92 418 108 383 3,370
FAN-AEBETEREANESIGE No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors
NS - 1EAIMARSE B~ 2R Bk as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
BB (T -—F &) - compensation for loss of office during the year (2021: Nil).
FRN - WEEAIRBEREEAESK There are no arrangements under which a Director waived or
B RAERERAME (ZE=—%F agreed to waive any emoluments for the year (2021: Nil).
) o
BE—_ZE - -_FT-_—%+—-H The discretionary bonus are determined by individual
=T—HLEFE HBEELNRES performance of the Directors for the years ended 31
BARRETE - December 2022 and 2021,
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10. EBENSREEBNINE (&)

EEREMEAL

FR- -EAEEREHEZAZAL
B ZRH(ZE-—F:=F) A=
E FEMe L HFRERRREXE
P2tk o« BNEB R (ZT——
F )AL ZBET

(b)

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group during the year included three (2021: three)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. Emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2021: two) individuals are as follows:

—EC-CF —E-—F

2022 2021

ARET T ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

e LHEMER Salaries and other benefits 1,603 1,434
EYIBTEAL Discretionary bonus 447 277
BRIREFET IR Retirement benefit scheme contributions 31 30
2,081 1,741

ZEALTZHEBRIATEE :

The emoluments of the individuals were within the following

1. RE

bands:
A
Number of Individuals
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
F< 4871 Emoluments bands:
Z2/8%1,000,0007T Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1
75 #1,000,0017TE8%2,000,0007  HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
11. DIVIDENDS
—E-—F — - —F
2022 2021
ARBT T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RBEFEENRAREERAEE Final dividends paid in respect of prior year
0207 (ZZF = —4 : &%0.037T) HK$0.20 (2021: HK$0.03) per share 147,900 21,423
FABRX N EREFREE Interim dividend paid in respect of
0.2t (ZFE=—%F : &) current year HK$0.12 (2021: Nil) per share 95,390 -
243,290 21,423

EEESpHE—_S-_—&+=-A=+—H
LEF R REA IR B &A% E @ AR B #0.207T
ZEZ—F  BH0.207T) - BEAHKE
W ARTEE 755K Rk AR AR S -

104 REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK$0.20 (2021:
HK$0.20) per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2022. The proposed dividend is not reflected as a
dividend payable in these financial statements.



12.

BRAF

ARRRHE ANEEERERNREEE N TR

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
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The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable

BATEEE - to owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RARHEA NEEAREZ R Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 870,924 379,647
EERHE
Number of ordinary shares
—E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
] Fix
‘000 ‘000
AHEEREAREERTN Weighted average number of ordinary shares
AR T8 for the purpose of basic earnings per share 858,525 851,954
BIELTRR EESE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
— BB — Share options 8,985 =
ETEEREERINE 2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
Sl lil: B S the purpose of diluted earnings per share 867,510 851,954

HE-_TZ-_—F+_A=+—HILFE &
RARBIEBRETEERRN FATER

= METEESREER N DR
FERE Y AL -

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options for the year ended 31
UNGID| December 2021 because the exercise prices of the Company’s share

options were higher than the average market prices for shares.
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13. % - BMERKE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
i BegE
ST
BEREHR ik Furniture, ERIR
: Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Construction &it
Buildings machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total
AEETT ARETT AEETR AEETR AEET R ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R=B=-£-A-H As at 1 January 2021

A Cost 314,335 1,175,263 3,899 8,565 125,585 1,627,647
ZRAERFESE Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (86,317) (486,811) (3,137 (7.380) - (583,645)
REFE Net carrying amount 208,018 688,452 762 1,185 125,585 1,044,002
FEEE Net carrying amount
R=F-—%—A-R As at 1 January 2021 228,018 688,452 762 1,185 125,585 1,044,002
i Additions 1,120 9,771 1,190 58 171923 184,586
A (BEE)R(i) Write-off (notes (i) and (i) - - - = (18,980) (18,980)
e Disposals (486) - (39) - (2,169) (2,693)
& Depreciation (15,557) (105,144) (535) (487) - (121,723)
THRENDE Redlassified upon completion 17,555 73,515 - 2 (91,090) -
R=Z2=-%+-B=1-R Asat31December 2021 230,650 666,504 1379 1,300 185,269 1,085,192

RZB--F+ZA=1-F Asat 31 December 2021

XA Cost 332,210 1,258,549 418 9,076 185,269 1,789,246
ZRMERAERE Accumulated depreciation and

impairment osses (101,560) (591,955) (2.763) (7.776) - (704,054)
RAFE Net carrying amount 230,650 666,594 1,379 1,300 185,269 1,085,192
REFE Net carrying amount
N=E-—f-f-H As at 1 January 2022 230,650 666,594 1379 1,300 185,269 1,085,192
0 Additions 88 78 1,031 383 179,735 181,315
ik Disposals - 1) (16) - - ®3)
ik Depreciation (16,129) (108,344) (500) (499) - (125472)
TREAERNDE Redlassified upon completion 18,179 97,805 - 113 (116,097) -
MWZBZZF+ZA=1-H Asat31December 2022 232,788 656,126 1,894 1,297 248,907 1,141,012

W=ZB==%+=A=1+—-H Asat 31 December 2022

KA Cost 350,477 1,356,368 4,625 9,572 248,907 1,969,949
ZRMERIERE Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (117,689) (700,242) (2,731) (8,275) - (828,937)
RAFE Net carrying amount 232,788 656,126 1,894 1297 248,907 1,141,012
AEBZEFURNIRPHBEERE 2R The Group’s buildings are situated on leasehold lands under
B o medium-term in the PRC.
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M~ WmEREE(E)
B &t

(i) HREBARBEITE HEIE&%@“
B BHELIRREEREIEETEK ©
it &““m&%ﬁﬁihﬁm%Lkﬁ
WREBE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLHF
BRI R AR ENFE A R #5,780,0007T ©

(i) HATRBEEBEERNOARRRESR
ABSHAREBTHEE  BHENNEM
SEGERIEEE - Rt - EEIERBEE
EREAAFLER IREE-F——
FH A=+ BLEFERILERREF

{E#2%8 A R #13,200,0007T °
BREYE
REYENAABEAE=RRNEEERAR

BFt & - HUMBRN R A EEARERREE
FCH ERBA T

13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The construction of environment and protection facilities failed to
meet the statutory requirements because the contractor did not
fulfil the contractual requirement to build the core equipment.
As a result, these facilities and components could not function
in pursuant to the original purpose, the net carrying amount
of RMB5,780,000 was derecognised for the year ended 31
December 2021.

(i) The construction of production line for a proposed new product
was terminated owing to the expected future cash inflow from
this new product became insignificant and uncertain which
caused by the change in market conditions. Consequently,
the Directors approved that the production facilities were
permanently withdrawn from use and the aggregate net carrying
amount of RMB13,200,000 was derecognised for the year ended
31 December 2021.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair
value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair
value balances and changes to the carrying amounts is summarised
as follows:

—E-CF —E-—F

2022 2021

ARBFT ARBFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

n—A—H At 1 January 21,600 22,900
WEYEELEE Revaluation losses on investment properties (700) (1,300)
R+-ZA=+—H At 31 December 20,900 21,600

WEMENR T —F+-_A=+—HHEB
VETAEMTEEEERBER AR (%
B BT AR R A E 2 K58 E1TE
i - EfhE 18 A R #700,0000T (Z T = —
F: AR 300000795)%%%\;_2::
F+-A=t+—RHILFEEEER

AEBZREMEUNETFHREEREZF
BHE LM -

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2022 by an
independent firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea Professional Services
Company Limited, who has recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. Revaluation loss of RMB700,000
(2021: RMB1,300,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Group's investment properties are situated on leasehold lands
under medium-term in the PRC.
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14, REYHE(Z)
FER - WERE—RBIEE KA 2 EKE
B aEAREHE=RR (T —
F o 4E) o

REME 2 AR EDREBERRUAERLL
BOREE - MULBIERA LB YEZME

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).

The fair value of investment properties is determined using direct
comparison approach based on the principle of substitution, where

EIT o BUKR/N R ME  FUERMAE the comparison is made based on asking prices of comparable
ZA LB EE EITON © properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, nature,
character and location are analysed.

il

Range
—E-= —E-—F
A EE@WmAE : Unobservable input(s): 2022 2021
MR 2R B Premium on characteristic of the properties -9% to 10% 6% to 7%

MEEEMERE(BEAN - RE - HE -
FUERMLE)WEERS  JEHHERS
ZBffE-.

MERMNFALENE - AREFESE
R E R &S NS EMERARRE - B

ERBEEERBS -

15.

Higher premium for the characteristic (including size, scale, nature,
character and location) of the investment properties will result in
correspondingly higher fair value.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

BEEE 15. INTANGIBLE ASSET

90T AN
Technical
knowhow
AR®T
RMB’000
R_ZE_—%—H—H At 1 January 2021 12,175
5 Amortisation (1,804)

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBK At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
N-—E-_—F—H—H 10,371
HH Amortisation (1,804)
W_E-_—F+=-HA=+—8 At 31 December 2022 8,567

BREEERNR _T—tFNAKBORM
F o BT A B SH B A B AR IR B AR ET AT
ERFHI0FE - YO AZRAKERSD
BT R Bt &R -

108 REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

This represented technical knowhow acquired in September 2017.
Amortisation on technical knowhow is charged on straight-line
method over its estimated useful life of 10 years and is included in
administrative and other operating expenses on the consolidated
income statement.
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16. EIERIE

AEBEBRAATEERERBEE, (8

&) :

16. DEFERRED TAX

The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
by the Group:

o
WEAR
HEER KRB
B Undistributed
BIEE  Impairment RENE  profits of BVEE
Tax loss  Investment foreign  Intangible H
losses  allowance  properties subsidiaries asset Total
ARETR ARBTT AR%Trn AR%Trn ARETz ARET:
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
R-E-_—F—Hf—H At 1 January 2021 6,933 7,961 (10,689) (6,000) (3,044) (4,839)
(BE&HMR) /FABE (Charged)/Credited to profit
(Mf9) or loss (note 9) (6.912) (94) 894 - 451 (5,661)
RZZZ—F+ZA=+—H At31 December 2021 and
k=E-—F—f—H 1 January 2022 21 7,867 (9,795) (6,000) (2,593) (10,500)
(BEHMR) /G ABE (Charged)/Credited to profit
i) or loss (note 9) - (93) 204 (30,000) 451 (29,438)
RZZBZZE+-A=+—H  At31 December 2022 21 7,774 (9,591) (36,000) (2.142) (39,938)

AR5k & M AROR R TR 2 IRAE R IR 45
RO -

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for the
consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

—E-CF T

2022 2021

ARET T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

R I E Deferred tax assets 7,795 7,888
FEFIHE Deferred tax liabilities (47,733) (18,388)
(39,938) (10,500)

HE—_ST-_—F+=-A=+—81 ' K&
& 75 A] R E B = RE A R 552,519,000
—Z——4 : ARK#¥91,278,000T) A tH
15 SR EEH R o R % EH B A R %A Al HR
AR BEARFEFRAAITEA - ik
L AR#52,519,000C (ZE=—F: AR
#91,278,0007T) FERAL (AR R A& E ©

HARARAGEHEMBARAREESR - B
ER] BRI KAl g Ol BEET R = 58 - i)
AMAEETHBENBRARR-_ZEENF—
A — B &/ K& L 27 8N /) T8 e T
S EFERLIE & & A R #598,788,0007T (=&
——%: AR#¥68,749,0007T) c RZT -
FE+-A=+—H ZSRELENETY
BAREE9R7,876,000L (T ——F : AR
#687,494,0007T) ©

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of RMB52,519,000 (2021: RMB91,278,000) for
offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of RMB52,519,000 (2021: RMB91,278,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of these
subsidiaries which have such deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB98,788,000 (2021: RMB68,749,000)
have not been established for the withholding tax that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries in the
PRC made after 1 January 2008 because the Company controls
the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and it is not probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future.
Such unremitted earnings totalled approximately RMB987,876,000
(2021: RMB687,494,000) as at 31 December 2022.
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17. FE 17. INVENTORIES
—EC-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R E KB FEm Raw materials and consumables 44,053 49,716
K n Work in progress 40,019 34,814
X G Finished goods 99,825 128,743
183,897 213,273
18. BEZEWERKEVREE 18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B S EWER Trade receivables 423,970 338,618
FEW R Bills receivable 369,521 175,572
793,491 514,190
ORI EEERE Less: Impairment loss allowance
(B¥5E37(iii)(C) (note 37(iii)(c)) (1,265) (1,500)
792,226 512,690

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

AEERTESEPZEER RN — &
AZEXNEATE (ZZ2=—F :NF—EAZE
NEATE) - BREBR BTGB ZRITA
RER REABETE-FUAR(ZTE_—
F:—FUA) BUEFHELRFZES
EERRE - AEEZ N H R IR R E5ER
RZES - AEEEEESEHERAHR

=
NI

The Group allows credit periods normally ranging from one
month to six months (2021: one month to six months) to its trade
customers. Bills receivable are non-interest bearing bank acceptance
bills and aged within a year (2021: within a year) upon issuance.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management of the Group.
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18. EZRUWIRREKRRE (&)

RiE B H - B 5B WER R EKRERE (kR
EERER) REZABMEZRE ST
T

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable (net of loss allowance)
at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is stated as
follows:

—E-CHF —E-—F

2022 2021

AR®T T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

0Z290H 0 to 90 days 697,822 465,461
91£180H 91 to 180 days 92,955 38,950
181&365H 181 to 365 days 911 7,910
#83@365H Over 365 days 538 369
792,226 512,690

FR - AEERPEZRIRT ([3T7RTD
mETHERET 2 —FRYBH(ZE=—
F: —FREH) BRHEE A R#955,572,000
T(ZZ——4%: AR¥1,179,559,0007T) Z
IBITERHERETEE ([BEZK]) &
HEESRMNEREMEMNREB(EZ]D -
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H EFEEA
R #352,176,000L (Z T = —F : AR
578,006,0007T) K] & & Z & i R 2 8 o iRIR
REZEE  HETRITARESN  BEE
BRAEABERNASEELBFRE ([HES
k) -EEZRA BEEZEMRENER
SREFRHEIENEESREEEE - AL - A
SEERIIBRSEZBERAME SRR
NMEMBEMNFIENZHERAE - ASERYE
ERENBESEEEZ &SRR KER
ZEEEEBRZAMBER S REMAENEE
HE -EERE AEBREERRZEFE
H RO RARELTEK o

HE_Z-_—_FR-_FT-—F+_A=+—
HIEFE  AEEUVEERESEZHRME
A 7 RS ETE o | FRNERRET
FMA - HERFE Y RERE M E
B BEEHBTFEANEFFHET -

During the year, the Group had endorsed bank acceptance bills
(the “Endorsed Bills”) issued by several banks in the PRC (the
“Issuing Banks”) with a carrying amount of RMB955,572,000
(2021: RMB1,179,559,000), with maturity within one year (2021:
within one year), to certain suppliers for settlement of its trade
and other payables (the “Endorsement”), among which a carrying
amount of RMB352,176,000 (2021: RMB578,006,000) were not
yet matured as at 31 December 2022. In accordance with the
Negotiable Instruments Law of the PRC, a holder of the Endorsed
Bills has a right of recourse against the Group if default of payment
by the Issuing Banks (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion
of the Directors, all risks and rewards relating to the Endorsed
Bills have been substantially transferred upon the Endorsement.
Accordingly, the Group has derecognised the full carrying amounts
of the Endorsed Bills and the associated trade and other payables.
The maximum exposure arising from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the undiscounted cash flows
to repurchase these Endorsed Bills equal to their carrying amounts.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the Group's
Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills were not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
had not recognised any gain or loss arising from of the Endorsed
Bills. No gain or loss were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the years or cumulative years. The
Endorsement had been made evenly throughout the years.
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Bz
18.

B RUWIRREWEE (&)

BHRWENMEYRRE ZREE (FIRER
BB RATERGHE

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable (net of loss
allowance) are denominated in the following currencies:

—E-CHF —E-—F

2022 2021

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR RMB 618,177 341,720
ETT usD 174,049 170,970
792,226 512,690

R=EBE-_—F+-_A=+—8  EBREEYD
AR#369,521,000c (ZE=——F : ARKE
#9175,572,0007T) I A A Bt AR 2 E UL
WETE c BREBN AR EBERAE AN A

REFE  BBENR - EERRME T
MR e T A R0 T%Z%IJYHEEE%EH%X

As at 31 December 2022, bills receivable amounting to
approximately RMB369,521,000 (2021: RMB175,572,000) was
measured at FVOCI. The fair value of bills receivable was at a level
2 fair value measurement which has been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

REMEMETE
FE_BRIRA
FELE=FRN(ZTE_—%F H&) -

AR ER BAR AR M E3(h) AT A ) & B R FE R

2 The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting

BEE - FIBER M 370 () °

o N WENE —RFIE
AR EERZHNER  hEEA

During the year, there was no transfer between level 1 and level 2
fair value hierarchy or transfer into or out of level 3 (2021: Nil).

policy stated in note 3(h), details of which are set out in to note

37(iii)(c) and (d).

19. TR FRIE R H Ath FE WK IR 19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-— T
2022 2021
ARBTR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
) 45 FE P A K Advances to suppliers 31,973 43,027
A Y B 3B (E Value-added-tax recoverables 5,212 10,090
T FRIE Prepayments 478 478
FE s AT B B 2 ) k78 (T #EG)) Amounts due from a former subsidiary
(note (i) 35,138 40,504
St 5% W 3t LA 45 18 R 3B (R (i) ) Compensation receivable for the land
resumption (note (ii)) 39,886 49,886
H 4t e W sk aE (B (i) Other receivables (note (ii)) 11,621 4,805
124,308 148,790
B FEUSATH B A RIFIERREREE  Less: impairment loss on amounts due from a
(B =EG)) former subsidiary (note (i) (24,720) (24,720)
A 8 W R TR B9 R (B S 1R impairment loss on other receivables
(B 5 Gii)) (note (iii)) (277) (1,980)
99,311 122,090
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RIR & HAth B FRIR (A7)

R-—ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H8 EKR—
=R AT B A B I (K aH R E B 18 5
f%)ﬁ%ﬁz%}\ﬁﬁgss,w&ooo%(:-;:—
F : AR #40,504,0007T) © ZiEHEE
Z AU M B A &) DA — 1R L Hb 7 3K 1R A R (8
B iR AR #9,973,000 (Z B = — 5 -
AR #9,973,000L) r MEA P AR
#24,720,000 (ZE=Z—F: ARK
24,720,0007T) 37 EEH - B R AEER
EERE - ERNZAKEB AR B AR
R BRIEEBEENRERR - TRIE
WA B AR EERRERRTEA
R ¥24,720,000 (ZZTE=—F: AR¥
24,720,0007T ) 7£ A] 78 5. #% 2R A% Al g 2 Sk U
oAl R=E_—_F+—_A=+—8
A MR R B LR MG AT T B A Rl K
EWEHE%%AE%MDO%W&‘K
——f: AR¥24,720,0005T) * MEE—
T+ =ZA=1+— EﬁiﬁZ%é

SR ERFBAINRNEGERE (S ——

Fm) o

RZZTZZTF  ARrEEZ2ENBE AR
MR b B AR AR ([HHE]) £E
TR R A BT 4 Hb A 4 B BT U ) ([3%
Ut |) o S AA 32 A sz Mt i 15 A R HE
195, 801 00075%%15 cE—FFE E2
MARRR-_ZE-_ZFTF+=-_A=+NBF
%mﬁi BHE-_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—

CRETTBNKREN R EEAA
EMwamamwﬂfE:fi AR
145,915,0007T) ° & = AN B 7% R & T % B

HEST T BUT (EFE R B AR E B B ER KA
R 39,886,000 T /& 7] fif /R 5 28 © = HTEHY
HBRBERBE—FANLEE  WELKAEUEARR
KPR B MENE B A E b FEUERIE -

B EER-_E-_—F+-_A=-+=-HB%
A RAUDBEMROER - RBEAEHRA
ARINMHBARRET S RIELEE - F
A AREZHEBRRRFREFTEERK
AR#1,703,0005T ° Fitt - R=—T——4
R ZBERE AR 1,980,000cE2 R
L 1] B 45 56 5 [B] 8 Iﬁai 2::
T A=+ BULEFEZERTER

R BRI M E3(h) AT 0 & 5T R FE R
b FEUCRIR R E RS E - B E M EE37 (i)

() °

19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Amounts due from a former subsidiary before impairment loss
allowance was RMB35,138,000 (2021: RMB40,504,000) as at 31
December 2022. This balance included an amount of outstanding
balance of RMB9,973,000 (2021: RMB9,973,000), which is
secured by a piece of land of the former subsidiary whilst part
of amount of RMB24,720,000 (2021: RMB24,720,000) was
unsecured and considered as credit impaired. In light of the
current financial situation of the former subsidiary, the unsecured
outstanding balance of RMB24,720,000 (2021: RMB24,720,000)
was highly unlikely recoverable in the foreseeable future. Thus,
an impairment loss on amounts due from this former subsidiary
amounting to RMB24,720,000 (2021: RMB24,720,000) was
made accordingly in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022. There was no additional
impairment loss allowance charged to the consolidated income
statement for year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

(i) In 2020, the land originally occupied by the production plant
of Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Parasia”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was resumed
by Weifang municipal government (the “Land Resumption”)
and entitled to a compensation of RMB195,801,000 as a result
of the Land Resumption. For further details, please refer to the
announcement published by the Company on 28 December
2020. An aggregated amount of RMB155,915,000 (2021:
RMB145,915,000) was received from Weifang municipal
government up to 31 December 2022. Up to the date of the issue
of these financial statements, Weifang municipal government
is discussing the settlement plan with the Group proactively
regarding the remaining balance of RMB39,886,000. The Directors
expected that the remaining balance will be settled within one
year, therefore, it is recognised as other receivables under current
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(iii)  According to the court judgement granted on 22 December 2021
arising from a contractual dispute, a contractor was obligated
to refund the deposit and make compensation to a Company'’s
subsidiary. During the year, the Company’s subsidiary has
received an aggregated amount of RMB1,703,000 for the refund
of deposit. Therefore, the impairment loss allowance provided in
2021 of RMB1,980,000 was partially reversed upon the collection
and recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Group recognised impairment loss on other receivables based

on the accounting policy stated in note 3(h), details of which are set
out in to note 37(iii)(e).
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Bz
20.

21.

SR FIRITIFR
R-E-—%+-A=+—B —28&kF
KA R #3,0007T 1R 1 o B A B 6 2 HETT IR
W e RFDREMIRE -

EZRR aRNFHE  BERRTERZ

EMERRTREEER

EHERRRITRIB AR REEBES 0
T

20. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2021, a bank deposit of RMB3,000 was
pledged to secure a litigation case under the PRC court order.

The Directors considered that the fair value of the pledged bank
deposit was not materially different from their carrying amount
because of the short maturity period.

. TIME DEPOSITS/BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The carrying amounts of time deposits and bank and cash balances
are shown in the following:

—EC-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000

JREIHA B B8 =& A 89 E BfF K Time deposits with original maturity
more than three months 197,463 -
RERRITER Short-term bank deposits 58,242 =
RITIREMFERE Cash at banks and on hand 236,425 226,349
RekReZEER Cash and cash equivalents 294,667 226,349

RZTB-__F+-_A=+—H KEEZE
HAERRETRITIERESEHAARES
B B AR#¥275,781,000C (Z T = —%:
AR #208,541,0007T) o AR K i 55N
By - B3R B 2 SNE B I 6 SR A5 B - B B
AT B B 3R 4R TE IR o

RITR B AT BRITERFEGFERZ

B AR EREF) B o MEIRTTIF s R E SITE R

RERHERRIT 2 RITER - ME 8

HR R R=FA 2AMBB=MEH - R=
T__F+ZA=+—H BHRITERR

TE B AF SR HY 6 A R # B 49 81.7% £5.53%
T —F ) e

— =

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

As at 31 December 2022, time deposits and certain bank and cash
balances with aggregated amount of RMB275,781,000 (2021:
RMB208,541,000) were denominated in RMB. Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits and time deposits
represented bank deposits placed in banks in the PRC and were
made for maturity periods less than three months and more than
three months respectively. The range of interest rate for short-term
bank deposits and time deposits as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately from 1.7% to 5.53% (2021: Nil) per annum.
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TIME DEPOSITS/BANK AND CASH BALANCES

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of time deposits and bank and cash balances

are denominated in the following currencies:

—E-CF T
2022 2021
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt HKD 18,355 1,754
ETT UsD 197,994 13,132
AR RMB 275,781 208,541
BT EUR - 2,922
492,130 226,349

g SR 22. TRADE PAYABLES

Zo5RNENEESHBE N F308 £270
BAE(ZZE=——% : HF30H 2708 F
F) MBEEH BHEMKRZEZAE
Fr{EZ BREG D ATIN T

Trade payables normally have the credit periods ranging from 30 to
270 days (2021: 30 to 270 days). Ageing analysis of trade payables
at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

—E-CF —E-—F

2022 2021

AR®T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

0£290H 0 to 90 days 39,366 44,618
91£180H 91 to 180 days 6,260 1,310
181%£365H 181 to 365 days 2,122 335
HiA365H Over 365 days 2,092 1,115
49,840 47,378

BHRMNENREABEDAARKTE - FFE
FIREREHEE - EZEMERNREE
AAREGEEERRERL -

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in RMB.
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade
payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of their

fair values.
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23. B RMNERRR E AL RIE 23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EC-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR®F T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
BRAME - BERRENENRIE Payables for property, plant and equipment 120,026 124,636
NS Accrued expenses 28,165 20,037
JER T & KAaF Wages and welfare payables 13,632 18,128
JEAHEL A 34 75 5 18 Other local tax payables 7,387 13,192
EAnfERFRIE (MIEE) Other payables (note) 41,086 45,614
210,296 221,607
Bt 5 Note:
HtENREZEREREESRENESHELE Other payables mainly comprise of payables for repair and maintenance
{THYFRIE © and acquisition of spare parts.
24. EREE 24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—E-CHF —EB-—4F
2022 2021
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ERBEEESR : Contract liabilities arising from:
HERBM TEm Sale of fine chemical products 25,520 21,427
AEEREEBALIER KRNI 0B The deposits received by the Group on sales of fine chemical
EREBE BEEZEGRRXMNTFEL AL - products remain as contract liabilities until such time as goods are

delivered to customers.

AREEMNEEHINT Movement of the contract liabilities is as follows:
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—H—B#&ER Balance as at 1 January 21,427 14,453
HREE X 255 (Hite) Net amounts recognised as revenue (note 6) (20,601) (13,148)
WRPUER R FFEE Net amounts received in advance
from customers 24,694 20,122
RT+—A=+—HB#&% Balance at 31 December 25,520 21,427
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RITIERK 25. BANK BORROWINGS
—EC-CHF —E_—F
2022 2021
AR®T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
FIHRERIRITIER Bank borrowings due for repayment
—mERE—FN () — On demand or within one year (note) - 60,000
B o Note:
FTERITERAUNARBHE RZT=-—F All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB. As at 31 December
+=RA=+—8 ' AR#%20,000,0007T & A R#& 2021, bank borrowings of RMB20,000,000 and RMB40,000,000 were
40,000,0007T HYER1T 8 K9 Bl B A A RIFEH B #) guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC and secured
Bt A RIMEIR 38 S PABR N F (B A R ¥661,748,000 by the Group's right-of-use asset with the net carrying amount of
TCHARER E (A A EEEIR - RMB61,748,000 respectively.
AEBRIRITEREFTEIRE R IBZETEGR The Group’s bank borrowings were scheduled to repay which set
EEE (THEHIREREBIERNTE) - out in the loan agreements if ignore the effect of any repayment on
FEAT demand clause as follows:
—EC-CF —E—4F
2022 2021
AR¥T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FRN Within one year - 60,000
AEERTERNERENEGEDT The ranges of effective interest rates per annum of the Group's
bank borrowings are as follows:
—EC-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
FEMER Floating-rate borrowings
—AARKHE — Denominated in RMB FEA N/A  4.80% t0 5.66%
BEFBEMBHEREARKRE SRR M The Directors estimated the fair value of the bank borrowings
BEFHRITERNAAE  URARNSWEH by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate and
HAREBIRITERAREERE N A BT - considered that the carrying amounts of the Group’s bank

borrowings approximate to their fair values at each reporting date.

FER R R 26. ADVANCES FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

FEIEARAR R AR IR - DEEE - W — Advances from a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest

FARHAEE - free and due for repayment within one year.
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27. TERR BRERDTBRK 27. ADVANCES FROM A SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDER/ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, advances from a substantial shareholder/
ultimate holding company mainly represent loans with principal
amount of RMB40,000,000 (2021: RMB90,000,000), which
are unsecured, interest-bearing at 2% per annum, and due for

R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—8  RERKE
RARK R EE AR S AKE40,000,000
T (ZEZ=—%F : AR#¥90,000,0007T) WE
o REERWEER  RFEFE2%E

118

RR—FAEEEE - repayment within one year.
28. B7A< 28. SHARE CAPITAL
BB
Number of &5
shares Amount
T8 BT T AREET T
‘000 HK$'000 RMB’000

VERE Authorised:
BREESBE0.01TEER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
RZE_—F—H—H " As at 1 January 2021, 31

T —F+ZA=+—8H" December 2021, 1 January

. F—-HA—-AkK 2022 and 31 December 2022

- —F+—-A=+—H 100,000,000 1,000,000
BRITRERE - Issued and fully paid:
BRAESE0.0170 LB Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
RZZE-_—F—H—H" As at 1 January 2021, 31

T —F+ZA=+—HK December 2021 and

—E-_—f—H—H 1 January 2022 851,954 8,520 7.831
AT EIREMm TR S Shares issued from exercise of

(Fft5£30) share options (note 30) 17,464 175 155
RZEBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2022 869,418 8,695 7,986

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK
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29. f#fE 29. RESERVES
& Group
REEFEREBENTFEEREEE The Group's reserves and movements therein are presented in the
275 consolidated statement of changes in equity.
PN Company
INEE R e
Foreign BRERE
R EE currency Share RBER
Share translation option Retained CH)
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARET T ARET ARBT ARET T ARET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(HE(a)) (MizH(e) (HZE()
(note (a)) (note (e)) (note (f))
RIZZ—5-A—-A&HK Balance at 1 January 2021 114,822 (34,384) 4,290 202,925 287,653
TR =B TERERE (FFE11) 2020 final dividend paid
(note 11) - - - (21,423) (21,423)
5 U AR (FH3E30) Forfeit of share options
(note 30) - - (195) 195 -
REEEURNZ [ 2FBEL  Equity-settled share-based
(P330) payment expenses (note 30) - - 793 - 793
FE R Profit for the year = = = 232,193 232,193
R Other comprehensive income - (5,444) - - (5,444)

MZTZ—F+ZA=+t—HK Balance at 31 December 2021

ZECZF-R-AKH and 1 January 2022 114,822 (39,828) 4,888 413,890 493,772
INZE-FERERER 2021 final dividend and

ZECFRBRE (FEE) 2022 interim dividend paid

(note 11) - - - (243,290) (243,290)
REEEARD R [ 2 Equity-settled share-based
FORR X (M330) payment expenses (note 30) - - 1,928 - 1,928
MR B R (FiFE30) Forfeit of share options
(note 30) - - (57) 57 -
IR EREMETH Shares issued from exercise of
R (B3 30) share option (note 30) 23,455 - (5,555) - 17,900
EERA Profit for the year - - - 28,864 28,864
HEizmls Other comprehensive income - 35,992 - - 35,992
WMZZZZ4F+ZA=1—H  Balance at 31 December 2022 138,277 (3,836) 1,204 199,521 335,166
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Hr—E——

29. f#tE (&)
REBRARNT

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

g

REFAEHSRAE  ARBIBD
BRAZESARDIRTARBHEA
A EEBEZ KRS BHE - AR
AARRENEERBEXRBBRESE
M2 BT -

15 Bl ek 8

FRlEBERBEASER _STHF
ETZEAMBBETENBARZE
BEMERNRSINSZTH B QAT
BT R TT 2 AR R B EE 2 R A
ER e

EBAES
RNARERBEKILZHBARZER
AR TE  ZENBRRASFABR
FiisfigaflzEa TaE D LLEBEER
#HAES HEEBEIEMELRZ
50% &Ll  E—RBERAT BHRAE
SEAERESE  FRBIEELRE
AMEARIERKBRARIZEER
KB BB AELEIEERE A
FMERNE  BEZBELIEIRE
ﬁH’iéZ'KZZS%z >

NEE

RER-_ZTXRF—A—BHEMGTE
REVEMR_ZEZRFERDAZAR
RO BRI 2 AN A BB A A
AR5 %E10% 2 BR TS B 1% )4 M B
rET MAae AT REEZER
wBAMARBERELD 2 FH - R &
ETBRZBEAT RRETF/IK -

SNEEEE K 1B

SNES I 3L R B R S BT TS SRR BV Th e
EMBER2NERMELZAAE
RER - ZRBREMEME S
BRI

BRERE
REFFAXERFA 8 T B RER R
BB HIRR -

Htv e
ARBEFEKXLIZETE2ENBA
A1 ELOR B 0t F B AL DA B B KR
EAN S BRMEEHER -

REBAETERERAT —F-_F5H

F+=Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. RESERVES (Continued)
Group and Company

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the owners of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Special reserve

This represents the difference between the paid up registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
Group reorganisation in 2004 and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange for the control in these
subsidiaries.

Surplus reserve fund

Articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC require the appropriation of certain
percentage of their profits after income tax each year to
the surplus reserve fund until the balance reaches 50%
of their registered capitals. In normal circumstances, the
surplus reserve fund shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into registered capital and expansion of the
subsidiaries’ production and operation. For the capitalisation
of surplus reserve fund into registered capital, the remaining
amount of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Public welfare fund

Pursuant to relevant regulations before the enactment of
Company Law of the PRC (revised in 2005) on 1 January
2006, the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
made allocation from their profits after income tax at the
rate of 5% to 10% to the public welfare fund. Public welfare
fund can only be utilised on capital nature items for collective
welfare of employees and is not distributable other than in
liquidation.

Foreign currency translation reserve

This reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements from
functional currency to presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 3(d).

Share option reserve
Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share
options to the employees over the vesting period.

Other reserve

This reserve represent certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company established in the PRC had capitalised their
retained profits to increase their paid-up capital by enlarging
their registered capital.
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AR 9 243 2 FR I8
RARNKRZZEETNF+ A WA RRERE
FE ([ZZZSFERERE]) YR
—RNFRA-THERNS —EEREE
([ZZE—"FiElEsrEl) - 5 52E &M
HEAEE 2 FUKHIELER ST &
BAEBEMAKE AR SKBMERARZES
AEWRESR - HER  BF  BREIEEX
BZBMBARRNSE ZERHERA =
TNFEREAZSEN - ZE—"FRA-T
BRI IR ST N FRERETE 2K
FoERHEMRITEZBRESEERN
RAIFiT7E «c —ZT— A FEREFEH-T
—ANFERA-TBEEER AR+ E R
BT FERESS BRAIRERS
84,687,800 FE AR 7 « Ml T HIFH AT
fE % %84,687,800/x &0 - R=ZZF=—F )\
B=18  RE-_ZT— A FEREFIRLY
18,000,00017 i A% 1 - A5z B HA H B B A%
EREFI AR EAB3,941,0007T ¢ MEH
K Z BRI A R B ABE0.219
T MRZEZZF+ZHA=+—H0 RBE=
EERNFERETE R = — N FERERT
BB R B EMARTITE 2 BIREY Rk K 48
249,000,000 (= Z — — 4 : 26,584,000
B%) - MERRAHRETEBHAARE
BITRAZI0%(ZEZ—F :3.1%) - &
E-E-—F+-A=t—HBItFE  I#&E
BIEZZT - NFHERETERDERE(Z
T — —4F : 18,000,0001) °

REE-_ZT-_—F+_A=+—HILFE -

BRE-_T—RNEBERE IR D NEREN
A

AEECEBYRFASEMESTEERA
BB T KA AR EERAEE
BRENEL BHNARE - BEREGER
NEEHAREIBNRR  2REEHNEY
BB R AR O M ERRE - SARE
B ABRRNBL RS HBRENAAE
BEATELEERTE -

BERTAHREG AR

R H B E A #0.8907T
1T (E A #0.9087T
hn#eF154 4988 7
T8 HA R 1 48.08%
TE HARR B M ok & 4.29%
47 3 B ) 2 0.893%

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted share option schemes on 4 October 2006
(the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to the Directors, eligible employees, suppliers,
customers, any shareholder of each member of the Group or
associated company or any of their respective associates, and
advisers or consultants of the Group who contribute to the success
of the Group. The 2006 Share Option Scheme was expired and
terminated on 20 May 2016. The granted outstanding options
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2006 Share Option Scheme. The 2016 Share Option Scheme
has become effective for the periods of 10 years commencing
on 20 May 2016 and up to 84,687,800 options entitling the
holders thereof to subscribe for up to 84,687,800 shares may be
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since then. On 30
August 2021, 18,000,000 share options were granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme. The estimated fair value of the share
options granted on that date was HK$3,941,000 and the weighted
average fair value of each option granted was HK$0.219. As at 31
December 2022, the aggregated number of shares in respect of
which options remained outstanding under the 2006 Share Option
Scheme and the 2016 Share Option Scheme was 9,000,000 (2021:
26,584,000), representing 1.0% (2021: 3.1%) of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of issuance of these financial
statements. During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was
no share option granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme
(2021: 18,000,000).

Fair value of share options granted during the year ended 31
December 2021 under 2016 Share Option Scheme:

The Group has used binomial option-pricing model to determine
the fair value of the share option as of the grant date with the
assistance of Roma Appraisals Limited, independent firm of
chartered surveyors. Option valuation model requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the option’s expected life
and the price volatility of the underlying shares, and changes in
the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate of share options.

Significant unobservable inputs:
Share price at grant date
Exercise price

HK$0.890 per share
HK$0.908 per share

Weighted average contractual life 7 years
Expected volatility 48.08%
Expected dividend yield 4.29%
Risk-free rate 0.893%
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30. Lxﬂxfﬁszﬁz RIE (&) 30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
R=ZE== T+ ZHA=+— Details of the specific categories of options outstanding as at 31
 FEEFERI 2 R TR BB AR A S B E A a0 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
—|? :
R AT R RES A
SNV REAH HREAH d fT#&  Number of outstanding
Category of grantee Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price share options
“E--fE  ZBECZ-E
2022 2021
2554 () 2 -F\A=1H “Z-—f/\A=TH :7::¢AH THE  A%0.908T - 2,500,000
Mr. Liu Yang (Note) 30 August 2021 30 August 2022 ZZNENAZTAR  HK$0.908
30 August 2022 10
29 August 2028
ZEC-NA=TR ZEZZHM\A=TR  ZZ-=£/\A=tHE  #K0908T 2500000 2,500,000
30 August 2021 30 August 2023 ZEZENAZTAR HKS0.908
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028
REZE A (W) -*—ﬂitﬂ+ﬁ - EtATA “Z-rFLA+AZ A1 45T - 160,000
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note) 0 July 2015 10 July 2016 ZZZ=%tANA HK$1.45
10 July 2016 to
9 July 2023
“E-TEtATH “E—tF+ATH “E+ELATHE 1457 - 300,000
0 July 2015 10 July 2017 “Z-=F+AANH HK$1.45
0July 2017 to
9 July 2023
ZEZ-EN\A=TH “Z--ENA=TE ZE-ZENASTRE BB0908T - 2,000,000
30 August 2021 30 August 2022 ZZZENAZTABR  HKS0.908
30 August 2022 to
29 August 2028
ZEC-FN\A=TH “E-=ENA=tE ZE-=ENA=tHE  AH0908T 2,000,000 2,000,000
30 August 2021 30 August 2023 ZECNENAZTAR HKS0.908
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028
BT “E-RF+ATH ZZ-"¥tATA “E-REtATHE 1457 - 3,088,000
Employees 10 July 2015 10 July 2016 “ZZ=5tANA HK$1.45
uly 201610
9Ju\y 2023
“Z-R4tATA “E—tFtATH “Z—tELATAE 1457 - 5,036,000
0 July 2015 10 July 2017 “Z-=FtANA HK$1.45
0 July 2017 to
9 July 2023
ZEC-F\A=1H ZEZZENA=TR  ZE-ZH\A=tHRZ  AK0908T - 4,500,000
30 August 2021 30 August 2022 ZEZENAZTAR HKS0.908
30 August 2022 to
29 August 2028
ZZ--FN\A=1H ZE-=EN\A=tE ZE-=£NA=tHE  AH0908T 4,500,000 4,500,000
30 August 2021 30 August 2023 ZE-NEAAZTAAE  HK$0.908
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028

9,000,000 26,584,000

5T Note

RIS E RREFELETIHITES - Mr. Liu Yang and Mr. Chen Xiaohua are the executive Directors.
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30. AR SZAY 2 RRIE (4F) 30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
TRETIAR TR S B A I T 1T Movements of and weighted average exercise prices of the
fB(E : Company’s share options are as follows:
R INFETH
T8 11158
Weighted BREHA Weighted FEIREHE
average Number of average Number of

exercise price  share option  exercise price share option

—E-CHE —EC-CF —E - —E-—F

2022 2022 2021 2021
RENHARITRE Outstanding at beginning 71.0837T B HE1.4570
of the year HK$1.083 26,584,000 HK$1.45 8,984,000
FERFRH Granted during the year - - /A%0.908T 18,000,000
HK$0.908
FRITE Exercised during the year BE1171T (17,464,000) = =
HK$1.171
FRRUK Forfeited during the year FB#1.457T (120,000) FB#1 4570 (400,000)
HK$1.45 HK$1.45
RERHRITE Outstanding at the end 7#0.9087T 7B H51.0837T
of the year HK$0.908 9,000,000 HK$1.083 26,584,000
FA - RITEEEERREE B BRI T 91T EE During the year, the weighted average share price at the date of
BB 4470 - Z BT N FRBIRETEIM exercise of share options was HK$2.44. The exercise price of share
RITEBRER = _—F+=_A=1+—8H options outstanding under 2006 Share Option Scheme as at 31
ZITEEBABE1.450  MZT—~FER December 2021 was HK$1.45, while the exercise price of share
BTSN ARTTEBRRER =S _—F+= options outstanding under 2016 Share Option Scheme as at 31
A=+—B 2T ERBK0.908T (=& December 2022 was HK$0.908 (2021: HK$0.908). The weighted
Z—4% : B¥0.9087T) ° INEEFE HERE A average remaining contractual life was 5.6 years (2021: 5.1 years).
Hi RS 6F (ZT——F :5.14F) -
EFERERITEERERS D WEBRE Out of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the
(=T ——4 : 8,584,000 E&#) B 8B & year, there was no share option (2021: 8,584,000 share options)
A FATHE © had been vested and were exercisable.
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31.

ZEZ—F+Z B =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

ERATNR=ZZE-_ZF+=ZA=+— 31.

HOLDING COMPANY'S STATEMENT OF

B Y B AR R 2= FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
—E_C —E-—F
2022 2021
B 5T AR®T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
EEHESE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FREEE Non-current assets
R BRRZRE Investment in subsidiaries 78,217 78,217
78,217 78,217
REEE Current assets
R EYNETE S Amounts due from subsidiaries 249,914 419,065
TE SRIA I B At FE U GRIR Prepayments and other receivables 211 188
R1T MRS 4E 5 Bank and cash balances 18,085 4,934
268,210 424,187
REEE Current liabilities
FERT AR BRAR I EL At FE A~ 5K IE Accruals and other payables 893 801
FERTHIB A RIFRIE Amounts due to a subsidiary 2,382 =
3,275 801
RBEEFE Net current assets 264,935 423,386
BEERABARG Total assets less current liabilities 343,152 501,603
EEFHE Net assets 343,152 501,603
R EQUITY
N Share capital 28 7,986 7,831
E Reserves 29 335,166 493,772
RS Total equity 343,152 501,603

ER-—E-—=F=-A-t+HARESEE2HE
WRETZE  CHIATRRESE

g%
LIU YANG
EF

Director

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

FFI
WANG ZIJIANG
EF

Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 25
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32. KRB AR 2R 32. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
R_E - —FEhR B —F+-_A=+—
B AAFMBATZHENT

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

EMAL/ RIR BRILE/
EENY BAmRAZEHE REER/RER/
Place of Nominal value of EfaRE
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
£ establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FEEH
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
HE R
Direct Indirect
ERERBRAF i BB 100% - RERRK
Great Growth Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BRERARAE BB AT 100% - REBK
Great Spirit Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BERRARA &R BRI 100% - REEBR
Great Promise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
REBEERERAA A 7 510,0007 70% - REEBR
Tiande Medical Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding
REERRT &R 710,000 - 100% HERACIER
Tech Chem Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Sales of fine chemical products
BEERBRAA ABARARES 268%TT - 100%  HRAER
Smartcharm Holdings Limited (EZEgAREE]) US$268 Investment holding
British Virgin Islands
(the "BVIs")
BALEERAA ABARARES 1251% 7 - 100%  HRAER
Smartpoint Enterprises Limited The BVIs US$1,251 Investment holding
ERERERAR ABARARES 4TIET - 100%  HRAER
Techsmart Holdings Limited The BVIs US§477 Investment holding
EHRZCERRAT e NEBERR 600,000% 7T - 100% HERSERBLIER
Weifang Common Chem Co., Ltd. (MMEBELE]) US$600,000 Selling and distribution of fine
The PRC, Wholly foreign- chemical products
owned enterprise
(HWFOEH)
FEEUMLIBRAF TESBEELR ARH5,000,0007 - 100% HERIHRALIER
Shanghai Dehong Chemical The PRC, WFOE RMB5,000,000 Selling and distribution of fine
Company Limited chemical products
BORUBERAR TESEBELR 35,200,000 T - 100% HERHHERBLIER
Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. The PRC, WFOE US$35,200,000 Selling and distribution of fine

chemical products
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HEZZT - —_F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
32. RMB AR 2= (&) 32. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
HMRL/ LK BRAEE/
EEWY BREMmRA2EE RAERE/RER/
Place of Nominal value of EfEME
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
2% establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FE£H
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
HE GE3
Direct Indirect
BHEBRRLIARAR ENMEBELR 84,000,000% 7 - 100%  H - REREERMI IER
Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, WFOE (ZF=-%: Research and development,
51,000,000%7T) manufacture and sales of
US$84,000,000% fine chemical products
(2021: US$51,000,000)
EABREWMARLA PENEBELE AR#17,675,8807C - 0% HE
Deling Medical Instruments Co., Limited ~ The PRC, WFOE RMB17,675,880 Inactive
AR IARAA PE AR¥61,408,1637 - 51% % RERHEEIER
Weifang Zhongying Chemical Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC RMB61,408,163 Research and development,
manufacture and sale of
chemical products
BEREARBRAT i 2007 100% - REBR
Dekel Investment Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HK$200 Investment holding
EHERFHEERAR e NEEERR 14,051,190% 70 - 100%  HE% BERREBHEER
Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co.,  The PRC, WFOE US$14,051,190 Research and development,
Ltd. manufacture and sales of
adhesive products
* REBBFRFENEMME LG MEBHER @ Registered capital has been enlarged by capitalised its retained
MR EAR - profits to increase its paid-up capital during the year.
RER BEEMNERABTERE None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
R —F ) o the year (2021: Nil).
33. KiE 33. COMMITMENTS
MNEREBHE  KREB ZAEQMT : The Group’s commitments at the reporting date are as follows:
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR%T T AREBTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BRANBEEDZE « BB MR R EE Commitments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 114,235 86,289

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK
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34. HERFEREEE

REEE (FREEN)

SEBWFE()AVRLRT - ANE B H AL FTER
AAEREREAS THE M - fﬂ&/\ﬂﬂ’]
AE—MZEAS0E F ABALREES -
HARNAR EiE 24 o %ﬂﬁﬂ?ﬂﬂ’]mﬁﬂfﬂ‘i\mlm
B o FER BT E T iR A BIELE
HEFECENMN  ERSHEYAELRE
BE-

EREEE
EREVBRNRERNEREEENES)
(I

34. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Long-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)

Referring to note 3(l), the Group has certain leases of lands in the
jurisdictions from which it has operations. Rental contracts are
typically with lease terms maximum to 50 years, with no renewal,
extension and termination options for the lessee. The periodic
rent from the leases is fixed over the lease terms. Leases of lands
in the PRC are recognised as right-of-use assets which their lease
payments have been prepaid and no lease liabilities arising from
those leases.

Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets which recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

—E-= —E-—F

2022 2021

AR¥T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

m—H—H At 1 January 62,382 64,219
)i Addition 22,875 -
#iE Amortisation (1,939) (1,837)
Rt+=—A=+—H At 31 December 83,318 62,382
JEREE S Non-current portion 83,318 62,382

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—8 " EFEFEA
K #61,748,000C R BiEE EE BRI TE
KA R%40,000,0007T (fi#E25) fEH K -

RHEE (FREEA)

AEBEFEMEENNAZRHAEERER
REPHEE - ARNRITNHEESRNHESE
ERERAEREANERAETEEHEERE
o ASEEETHIACREEENHEHESR
& meESRLEHEABENEENTIZE
HIAEARERRBRPHMX -

As at 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets with the net carrying
amount of RMB61,748,000 was pledged for bank borrowing of
RMB40,000,000 (note 25).

Short-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group has lease of office premises located in the PRC and Hong
Kong which are recognised as short-term leases. Since the lease
contracts entered with lease terms ends within 12 months from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option, the
Group has elected not to recognise the right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities but recognises the lease payments associated with these
leases as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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34. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Short-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)
(Continued)

Details of the short-term lease expenses and undiscounted
commitments are as follows:

—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RHEERX Short-term leases expenses
(BERBETEREEMEERS) (included in administrative and

other operating expenses) 3,380 3,904

RAGIRE B E AR AR Aggregate undiscounted commitments for
short-term leases 221 743

HERS RN
ReneRmMEENBEESENT

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
the following:

—E-CF T —F
2022 2021
ARETR ARBFT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
EEEELEHERE Within operating cash flows 3,380 3,904
fEREHEA As lessor
AREBRREMEUTRAIERA T ZA The Group’s investment properties are leased to a number of
HE- MR- BE-_—_FK-_FT-—%+_-H tenants for varying terms. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
=+—RH  BRETAUHELEEE  ~&EH the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under
Z BEEESERCGREERAT : non-cancellable operating leases as follows:
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARETT ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
—F A Within one year 370 731
BR—FETERME Later than one year and
not later than two years a4 348
ERMEETEN=F Later than two years and
not later than three years - 44
414 1,123

BEAEENKEEHELH  HELLAERE
IHE—Z=F( T -_—F : —F=F)F
L -HEKRR—MEKAEIHRES °

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

Under operating lease arrangements of the Group, the leases are
negotiated for an average terms of one to three years (2021: one to
three years). The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits.
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35.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions

with related parties:

—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
NP —%R(ZZE=Z—F: —4) Short-term lease expenses to a related
HITEEHEEm W A 1T company in which one (2021: one) of the
E-WN-Z - Walol2) NG executive Director have beneficial interests
RERERY and can exercise significant influence 514 514
MEERRRBERRBER Repayment to a substantial shareholder/
FER (I 5E27) ultimate holding company, net (note 27) (50,000) (10,680)

TREBABZMESENMEI0-

RETHEENRE YR

TRAMARERAREEDNE ES

36.

~F

5 BRESMIREZEY BRELDE
ENBERARERESARKREREC K
HRAKEGERERERTOBLMERD

BRERENARE -

The remuneration of key management personnel are set out in note 10.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below shows detailed changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.
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36. MEEBELENEBEZHR(E)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

TERR/
BARER
AGTE-E
Advances
FERBRR from a
B3 substantial
Advances  shareholder/
$#1TfEH  fromanon- ultimate
Bank controlling holding it
borrowings  shareholder company Total
ARET T ARETR ARETR ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
(K¥aF25) (F¥&F26) (Fit&F27)
(note 25) (note 26) (note 27)
R-Z-—-%—-H—H t 1 January 2021 110,000 5,334 105,507 220,841
BEHELTEA/ GR) : Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
MEHRTER New bank borrowing raised 60,000 = = 60,000
BRRITHER Repayment of bank borrowings (110,000) = = (110,000)
BEAIHE Interest paid (4,726) - (634) (5,360)
AR A R Repayment to ultimate holding company
- A&#Hn — principal amount portion = = (13,662) (13,662)
BREER A RIEH Advance from ultimate holding company
- A&#Hn — principal amount portion = = 1,676 1,676
Hin 23 : Other changes:
EERNANERREMEN  Repayment of accrued interest under
HIER IS accruals and other payables 216 - - 216
MERX Interest expenses 4,510 - 1,940 6,450
[EZ AR Exchange adjustments = (159) (67) (226)
WZZZ—F+ZA=+—HK At 31 December 2021
—T--f—-H—-H and 1 January 2022 60,000 5175 94,760 159,935
BEBEERA/ (GR) : Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
MERITER New bank borrowing raised 10,000 - - 10,000
BERTEN Repayment of bank borrowings (70,000) - - (70,000)
ERFE Interest paid (1,890) - - (1,890)
MEERE/ SRER Repayment to a substantial shareholder/
AAIER - A& HH ultimate holding company - principal
amount portion - - (50,000) (50,000)
Hip & Other changes:
TEETEH?EHEE Repayment of accrued interest under accruals
OB R A ,%\ and other payables 87 - - 87
MEFX Interest expenses 1,803 - 964 2,767
B KA % Exchange adjustments - 480 - 480
RZZEZZF+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2022 - 5,655 45,724 51,379
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group'’s financial performance. The Directors meet periodically
and co-operate closely with key management to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for
speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.
See also note 37(v) for a summary of financial assets and liabilities
by category.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as certain of
its business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, US$ and EUR. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of other foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

As at 31 December 2022, if the RMB had weakened/
strengthened 5% against HK$, US$ and EUR with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year and retained profits would have been approximately
RMB14,640,000 (2021: RMB7,079,000) higher/lower, arising
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain/loss on trade
and bills receivable denominated in US$.

The measures to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to
be effective.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's floating interest
rate borrowings and bank deposits. The Group has not used
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's
profit for the year and retained profits to a possible change in
interest rates of +/- 0.5% (2021: +/- 0.5%), with effect from
the beginning of the years. The calculations are based on the
Group'’s financial assets and liabilities with floating interest
rates held at the reporting dates. All other variables are held
constant.

FERNRREBR
Profit for the year and
retained profits

AR¥T T

RMB’000
+0.5% -0.5%
—E-—#+-A=+—H 31 December 2022 864 (864)
—E-—4%+-A=+—H 31 December 2021 341 (341)

REHBAMMANBERMG  REMN
MEBFHHEIEFSEAELR A
AEREREEBHMNENARE T @A
HIR R A IR ] B B AT (R RO AT A ©

AEBEBEFERL—HEREER
REBAIERG - WRABEEEEE -

(iii) EE =R (iii)
EERRKEREERAENE S

J‘%‘Hﬁzﬁ% VRIE - EMRUGIR  RITR
E R EMEREEERRITE

Tﬁ’&fﬁ@ﬁr)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂk 5 HY 8
HKKTF UREFPHMEERR 81K
1858 e MR IA

RECITEZERARIE —B-_FFRK

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents the management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next
twelve months period.

The measures to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years and are considered to be
effective.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, bank and cash balances, time deposits and
pledged bank deposits, at amortised cost and bills receivable
at FVOCI, as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Risk management
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 31%
(2021: Nil) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer. Moreover, the
geographical location of customers is mainly on the
PRC which accounted for 59% (2021: 49%) of the
trade receivables as at 31 December 2022. In order to
minimise the credit risk, management will endeavor
to build an extensive customer base that spread over
the world, which can minimise the credit risk by
geographical location.

Securities

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables amounting
to RMB9,973,000 (2021: RMB9,973,000) was secured
by a piece of land (2021: a piece of land) (note
19(i)) owned by a debtor which can be called if the
counterparty is in default under the terms of the
agreement.

Other than stated as above, the Group does not hold
collateral as security.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
impairment loss is recognised for trade receivables
not only when there was objective evidence of
impairment, but also at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases. Expected loss rates
are based on actual loss experience over the past 5
years and forward looking information. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the periods over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.
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37. SRIEAREE (&)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Impairment assessment on trade receivables

(Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and loss allowance of
trade receivables as at reporting dates:

As at 31 December 2022

BEEHE RERE
BHERE Gross ERRE HERE Net
Expected carrying Loss Specific carrying
loss rate amount  allowance  allowance amount
% ARMTR AR¥TR AR%TR AR¥T:R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
A (RiBH) Current (not past due) 0.004% 401,363 (17) - 401,346
EBH1-90H 1-90 days past due 0.01% 19,913 () - 19,911
EiB#91-180H 91-180 days past due 0.30% 911 B) - 908
EiA181-365H 181-365 days past due 3.60% 2 (1) - 1
EAHEE365H Over 365 days past due 19.78% 1,781 (132) (1,110) 539
423,970 (155) (1,110) 422,705

R=-F-_—-%+=-A=+—~8 As at 31 December 2021
REES REER
BHERX Gross EEEE HEEE Net
Expected carrying Loss Specific carrying
loss rate amount allowance allowance amount
% ARBTT ARETT AREBTRT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2A1 (RBH) Current (not past due) 0.004% 308,621 (13) - 308,608
EBH1-90H 1-90 days past due 0.02% 24,356 (4) - 24,352
B iAH91-180H 91-180 days past due 0.30% 3,308 (10) - 3,298
B iAH181-365H 181-365 days past due 371% 674 (25) - 649
EiBHiE365H Over 365 days past due 13.17% 1,659 (32) (1,416) 211
338,618 (84) (1,416) 337,118
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(0

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

EHE S KRR R Movement in the allowance account in respect of trade
U receivables is as follows:
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBT T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R—HA—B#&k Balance at 1 January 1,500 978
EHERRBIEREREME,  Provision for/(Reversal of) impairment loss
([E14) recognised 71 (134)
EREREIERAEESE (Reversal of)/Provision for specific
(B8 i impairment loss recognised (306) 656
Rt A=+—H#&E&% Balance at 31 December 1,265 1,500

HEAARBFAHMCEZEKEN
BT RETRER G
R-B_—_ER-_F_—F+{_
A=1+—0 BUEEES8EA
BAREFAEMEZEREN
12EARBREBTE - BRE
wIR2EANEREEERE
A8 - AR RES A B
RERITEL - RWEREMEREE
ZE2EIBEEFEHEER
HHFENENESR LR AT
BRGETRHE - RARZE T8
EWMEL - At - BEFEEHN

BHEE B AR TG AERE - &
A EERITARERSE (=T
Z—F | o

(d)

Impairment assessment on debt instruments at
FVOCI

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, bills receivable
is classified as debt instruments at FVOCI, which are
matured within 12 months. The measurement of loss
allowance was based on 12-months ECLs. All the
bills receivable are issued from licensed banks in the
PRC. The credit quality of bills receivable has been
assessed by reference to the external credit ratings
or to historical records and available information
about the counterparties’ default rates. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the past.
Therefore, the expected credit loss rate of the bills
receivable are assessed to be minimal. No impairment
loss is recognised during the year (2021: Nil).
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(e)

Impairment assessment on other financial assets at
amortised cost

Bank and cash balances, time deposits and pledged
bank deposits are also subjected to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial since they are placed at financial
institutions with good credit rating. For deposits and
other receivables, which are considered to have low
credit risk, and the measurement of loss allowance was
therefore based on 12-months ECLs. Amounts due from
a former subsidiary which is included in prepayments
and other receivable approximately of RMB24,720,000
(2021: RMB24,720,000) is considered as credit-impaired
and provision for impairment loss is made accordingly
(note 19(i)), the measurement of loss allowance of the
outstanding balance as at 31 December 2022 is at an
amount equal to credit impaired with lifetime ECLs. An
amount of RMB 1,980,000 included in other receivables
was considered as credit-impaired and provision
for impairment loss was made accordingly in 2021,
however, this loss allowance amount of RMB1,703,000
has been reversed due to cash received from the
contractual party under the PRC court order during
the year (note 19(iii))). Other than that, the Director
considered the remaining balance of other receivables
as low credit risk since they have a low risk of default
and the measurement of loss allowance were therefore
based on 12-months ECLs.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk

EERERBUERRE  AREEER
LR EEBRATMNRE MRS
FEER FRAKBZEMTNE
ERFRATRERIONZE T
ETHERBARERNREERER
FRHNEREERIBNERAE
ER ==

HRAEBENEHRITIERTHARE
BERTHENRBEARNBRERF
BB EFZRAR G RAEEBAA
AREBRERABTBRERE - K
SEEBRMNEEES  BUEM
BRIFAS - NEEEMEE TRITHE
Ao REFFERBRBRERE T
ERRRKERABNER  EAE
MBNER R

TERBEZERRBBENTI TS
BRABRHER

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

As the Group had short-term bank borrowings which could
be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the
Group within limit approved by banks, the Directors are of
the opinion that, taking into account the presently available
facilities and internal financial resources of the Group,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. The Group obtained certain bank borrowings,
advances from a non-controlling shareholder and advances
from a substantial shareholder as source of liquidity.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
payments:

=EARS ZERE
RER —£R RESRAEE
Within Between Total HREE
3monthsor 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
on demand 1 year amount amount
ARET T ARET T ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- 2022
BHEME - BEMEN  Trade, other payables and accruals
TR R B AR 129,619 130,517 260,136 260,136
FEIRARAR R 2K Advances from a non-controlling shareholder - 5,655 5,655 5,655
FERRBH Advances from a substantial shareholder - 45,724 45,724 45,724
CE Total 129,619 181,896 311,515 311,515
—g--F 2021
BHENME - BMER  Trade, other payables and accruals
TR R BN AR 154,240 114,745 268,985 268,985
|ITRER * Bank borrowings* - 60,000 60,000 60,000
JEPEIRIR R Advances from a non-controlling shareholder = 5175 5,175 5175
BRAREIR AR EK Advances from ultimate holding company - 94,760 94,760 94,760
&t Total 154,240 274,680 428,920 428,920
@ BRFE B IR M T R E K B IR AR T 3 Balance represents bank borrowings with a repayment on

1j:t$h

= DA °

demand clause.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements.
The amounts include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater
than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band
in the maturity analysis contained in the above table. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do
not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its
discretion to demand immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.

BRKRER
BeREBAT —FAZIKREX
BREE Total contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand
ARET R ARET R ARET R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-EtZA=1—H 31 December 2022 - - -
“E-—%+-fA=1+-H 31 December 2021 60,000 61,758 61,758

A B — E R
B AR 03 5 - 632 R AR B
% -
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The measures to manage liquidity risk have been followed by
the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

by category

subsequent measurement.

(v) Summary of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities
recognised as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 may also
be categorised as follows. See note 3(h) for explanations
about how the category of financial instruments affects their

—EC-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE Financial assets
REEN AT ENEMEE Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
—E FREIER — Trade receivables 422,705 337,118
— &l & REM IR — Deposits and other receivables 61,648 68,495
—BEFRITER — Pledged bank deposits - 3
—EHFR — Time deposits 197,463 =
— RTINS R — Bank and cash balances 294,667 226,349
BAREFAEMEERKERN Financial asset measured at FVOCI:
EHMEE
—EWEE — Bills receivable 369,521 175,572
1,346,004 807,537
tHmaE Financial liabilities
BEHEKN AT ENSREE Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
—E FEMNER — Trade payables 49,840 47,378
— R ARNERFR R HAERNFIE  — Accruals and other payables 210,296 221,607
—IRITIER — Bank borrowings - 60,000
— IR AR R B K — Advances from a non-controlling shareholder 5,655 5,175
—E BRI — Advances from a substantial shareholder/
UNGIE-F N ultimate holding company 45,724 94,760
311,515 428,920

Annual Report 2022
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods commensurately
with the level of risk.

AEBESEREERANES RIEREERN
R  BEERBBRERERE - RERTX
HEBEEARL 1% AR &R B A FE EE A BRI B HY
TR BITHA ARREREEAN - EEGT
ERRmELLEEERE

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristic of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividend paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debts.

AEBETREFEFER L REREALN - It
HEROAETAFERTER -

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-equity
ratio. This ratio is calculated as set out in the table below.

RidE AR ERSEaS R T

The debt-to-equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
HRITIER Bank borrowings - 60,000
FEIERRAR R B — A S D Advances from a non-controlling shareholder

— principal amount portion 5,494 5,177

FERRBELIFRAREK —  Advances from a substantial shareholder/ultimate
PG el holding company — principal amount portion 40,000 90,000
HBETS Total debts 45,494 155,177
B BIEIRRITIER Less: Pledged bank deposits - 3)
EHFER Time deposits (197,463) =
RITRIR S Bank and cash balances (294,667) (226,349)
BEFE Net assets (446,636) (71,175)
fES 4B %R Total equity 2,504,162 1,754,810
ER RS R Debt-to-equity ratio TEA N/A NEH N/A

39. MEMENSH
AREFR - T-—F+-_F=+—HEER
PHEBRERTBEBA L ER LB RS-

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event of the Group after 31 December 2022
and up to the date of issue of these financial statements.

140 | XEEIZRERAT —F=—F5%
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